
Resources Directorate
DavidDavid  WilcockWilcock
AssistantAssistant  DirectorDirector  (Legal,(Legal,  GovernanceGovernance  &&  
Workforce)Workforce)

Governance  & Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside, Smith Street,
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Phone: 01706 647474
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk 

To:  All Members of the Pennines Township 
Committee

Enquiries to: Peter Thompson
e-mail:              peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01706 924715
Date: Monday, 12th September 2016

Dear Councillor,

Pennines Township Committee

You are requested to attend a meeting of the Pennines Township Committee, to be 
held in the Training and Conference Suite, 1st Floor, Council Offices, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, starting at 6.15pm.

The agenda and supporting papers are attached. 

If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of Interest 
which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the Code of Conduct or 
contact the Monitoring Officer or staff in the Governance and Committee Services Team 
at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

Yours Faithfully

David Wilcock
Assistant Director (Legal, Governance & Workforce)

Pennines Township Committee Membership 2016/17: -

Councillor John Blundell (Chair)
Councillor Neil Butterworth
Councillor Robert Clegg
Councillor Ashley Dearnley
Councillor Janet Emsley
Councillor Irene Davidson
Councillor John Hartley
Councillor Aftab Hussain
Councillor Andy Kelly
Councillor Amna Mir
Councillor Rina Paolucci-Escobar (Vice Chair)
Councillor Ann Stott JP

Public Document Pack

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/
mailto:peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk


Rochdale Borough Council

PENNINES TOWNSHIP COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 20th September 2016 at 6.15 pm

Training and Conference Suite, 1st Floor, Council Offices, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale

AGENDA

Apologies for Absence
1.  Declarations of Interest 1 - 3

Members must indicate at this stage any items on the agenda in 
which they must declare an interest.  Members must verbally give 
notice of their interest at the meeting and complete the form attached 
with this agenda.  

Members are also advised to take advice with regard to any matter 
where there is potential bias or predetermination in any business to 
be considered at the meeting and whether they should take part in 
decision making at the meeting.

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 
2011 and the Council's adopted Code of Conduct, they must declare 
the nature of any discloseable pecuniary interest; personal interest 
and/or prejudicial interest required of them and, in the case of any 
discloseable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest, withdraw from 
the meeting during consideration of the item, unless permitted 
otherwise within the Code of Conduct.

2.  Open Forum 

Half an hour has been set aside for members of the public to raise 
any issues relevant to the business of the Committee and the 
Township.

3.  Minutes 4 - 7

To consider the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held 3rd 
August 2016.

4.  Revenue Budget Update 2017/18 to 2019/20 8 - 22

5.  Savings Programme 2017/18 and 2018/19 23 - 46

6.  Local Council Tax Support Scheme - Review of Scheme 
2017/18 

47 - 75

7.  The Need for Extra Reception Class Places 2016-2019 76 - 89

8.  The Need for Extra Year 7 Secondary School Places from 2017 90 - 94



P
age 1

A
genda Item

 1



DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25TH JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS).

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE

MEETING AND DATE

…………………………….

Agenda item

Indicate either
 Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR
 Personal Interest OR
 Personal and Prejudicial interest

Nature of Interest

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name…………………………………………………………………………………………..

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 
LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE.

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING

P
age 2



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests.

Disclosable pecuniary interests
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners.

Subject Description
Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.  

Contracts Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council - 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer.

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - 
(a) the landlord is the Council: and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where -
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and
(b) either –
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class.

Personal Interests
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect - 
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority;
(b)  any body -

(i) exercising functions of a public nature;
(ii) directed to charitable purposes; or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union), 
of which you are in a position of general control or management;
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25.

Prejudicial Interests
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business -
(a) Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or
 (b) Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above.

MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25TH JULY 2012.

Page 3



PENNINES TOWNSHIP COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Wednesday, 3 August 2016

PRESENT:  Councillor Blundell (Chair); Councillors Butterworth, Clegg, Emsley, 
Davidson, Hartley, Hussain, Kelly, Mir, Paolucci and Stott

OFFICERS:  T. Knight and S. Reay (Neighbourhoods Directorate), P. Gregory 
(Economy Directorate), J. Taylor and H. Mellalieu (Children’s Services Directorate), 
and M. Hardman and R. Kilvington (Resources Directorate)

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  Two members of the public.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Dearnley

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
15 Councillor Davidson declared a personal interest in agenda item 2 
“Presentation – Friends of Hare Hill House/Moorend Trust” as a personal member of 
the Moorend Trust.

PRESENTATION - FRIENDS OF HARE HILL HOUSE/MOOREND TRUST
16 Nick Andrews, a Trustee of the Moorend Trust, provided an update on the 
work of the Trust since being afforded a 125 year lease from the Council on Hare Hill 
House.  

As part of the restoration works on Hare Hill House features of particular interest, 
including some that challenged previously held views of the history of the House, had 
been uncovered.  Much work had been undertaken by local volunteers, the Hind Hill 
Heroes, with input also coming from a number of other bodies.  Local businesses had 
provided assistance, both financial and material.

A number of rooms in Hare Hill House were now back in use, with work on the 
community room now almost complete; example of current usage were advised.  A 
variety of events had been hosted at the House, provided by the Trust or by other 
bodies.  The growing use of the building through the restoration period had been 
achieved without any real advertising, though this would be addressed through the 
Trust’s Business Plan looking to develop a financially sustainable model. 

The Council was thanked for the grant of the lease, which had enable the Trust to 
plan for the future with confidence of tenure that also assisted in the  seeking of grant 
funding.

DECIDED – That Nick Andrews be thanked for his presentation and the 
Moorend Trust congratulated on their good works.
Eligible for call-in: No

PRESENTATION- PENNINES TOWNSHIP IN BLOOM
17 DECIDED – That this item be withdrawn from the agenda.

OPEN FORUM
18 The following matters were considered within the Open Forum – 

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



(a) Greater Manchester Police update
PC M. Adams and PCSO C. Broome attended to present an update of Greater 
Manchester Police (GMP) activity in the Pennines Township.  Further to the report at 
the previous meeting, the new policing model had now been introduced.  Early 
indications were that the new arrangements were working well, though some issues 
relating to resources and staffing had been identified.  Mobile data was being rolled 
out which enabled police officers to remain out in the area, working in local libraries 
to make updates and being available to the local community.  

A verbal update in burglary and anti-social behaviour was provided, noting that 
following a spike of burglaries in the Wardle and West Littleborough Ward suspects 
had been arrested and charged, and that anti-social behaviour reports had reduced 
across all four Pennines Wards.  It was confirmed that Littleborough Police station 
was to close permanently on 30th August prior to disposal; GMP was working with 
partners for local Officers to be based at centres such as libraries and the fire station.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

Members of the Committee noted that staffing levels in the Pennines Township had 
been raised with the Police and Crime Commissioner; the Committee was further 
advised of recruitment activity being undertaken by GMP.  Members of the 
Committee also praised the response of GMP to a relation to a recent issue with 
travellers in Milnrow, and highlighted a particular area which appeared to be 
experiencing a spate of burglaries.

(b) Land at Hare Hill Road, Littleborough
A resident attended to express concerns at what might happen to the land at Hare 
Hill Road that was subject to a report on the agenda, noting her understanding that 
the site was contaminated.

DECIDED – That agenda item 11 (Land at Hare Hill Road, Littleborough) be now 
considered.  

LAND AT HARE HILL ROAD, LITTLEBOROUGH
19 The Director of Economy sought the consideration of the Committee as to the 
declaration of the former gas works site at Hare Hill Road, Littleborough as being 
surplus to requirements; the negotiation with National Grid over restrictions on the 
land; the commissioning of a site investigation report; and the investigation of the 
feasibility of carrying-out a car park study with local organisations to establish car 
parking requirements.  Further to the submitted report, Members referred to 
suggestions of previous investigations into the site undertaken several years ago.

The recommendation was presented to seek the views of the Committee as to the 
future use and/or development of the site.

Alternatives considered – The Council could choose to do nothing and not dispose of 
the site at Hare Hill Road - this would not facilitate further car parking in the area or, 
dependent on ground conditions and degree of remediation required, generate a 
capital receipt; the Council could declare the land surplus and look to develop the site 
- a sale on the open market would, subject to ground conditions, produce a  capital 
receipt; or develop either the whole site as a car park or, subject to land conditions,  
develop a mixed housing/carpark scheme.

DECIDED – That (1) the declaration of the land as surplus be deferred pending 
receipt of further reports by the Committee;

(2) it be noted that Officers will, under delegated powers, negotiate 
directly with National Grid regarding the removal of restrictions on part of the 

Page 5



site as identified within the submitted report;
(3) it be noted that site investigations will be commissioned to help 

establish the amount of any land remediation that would need to be carried out 
by an interested party ahead of any redevelopment, and this consideration be 
reported to this Committee, including consideration of any previous site 
investigations that might be identified;

(4) an investigation into the supply, demand and location of car parking 
facilities within Littleborough be undertaken and reported to this Committee;

(5) the option for the use of the whole site for car parking purposes be 
discounted due to the cost implications.
Eligible for call-in: Yes 

MINUTES
20 DECIDED – That, subject to the insertion of apostrophes to the words 
‘Townships’ and ‘Councils’ in the middle paragraph of the preamble and in 
resolution (2) to Minute 11, the minutes of the Pennines Township Committee 
held on 31st May 2016 be approved as a correct record.

PENNINES TOWNSHIP DELEGATED SUB-COMMITTEE
21 DECIDED – That the minutes of the meeting of the Pennines Township 
Delegated and Funding Sub-Committee held on 4th July 2016 be noted.

PENNINES TOWNSHIP PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE
22 DECIDED – That the minutes of the meeting of the Pennines Township 
Planning Sub-Committee held on 8th June 2016 be noted.

ASSET STRATEGY 2016/2019
23 The Director of Economy advised of the adoption by the Cabinet of an 
amended Asset Strategy for 2016-2019, presenting the Strategy document which 
provides the framework by which the Council intends to manage its property assets 
during the financial years 2016-2019.

DECIDED – That the report and the Asset Strategy be noted. 
Eligible for call-in: No

BUDGET 2017/18 TO 2019/20 GUIDELINES AND TIMETABLE
24 The Director of Resources the budget guidelines and timetable to be used in 
preparing the detailed 2017/18 budget and provisional budgets for 2018/19 and 
2019/20.

DECIDED – That the report, including the revenue assumptions, budget 
timetable and the revenue and capital budget principles, be noted.
Eligible for call-in: No 

OBJECTIONS TO RAKEWOOD ROAD MOTORCYCLE BAY TRAFFIC 
REGULATION ORDER
25 The Director of Neighbourhoods reported on two objections received to the 
proposed introduction of a ‘motorcycles only’ bay restriction on a section of 
Rakewood Road, Littleborough situated outside the Wine Press premises, in 
Littleborough Lakeside Ward and invited consideration.  The submitted report 
included a Statement of Reasons for the proposed Traffic Regulation Order and 
details of the objections received with responses from the Director of 
Neighbourhoods. 

Page 6



The recommendation was presented as to comply with the Local Authorities’ Traffic 
Orders, Regulations 1996 the Authority must consider all objections submitted during 
the statutory consultation period before making a Traffic Regulation Order or 
otherwise.  The Committee held delegated powers to consider the objections 
received and determine whether the scheme should progress or be abandoned.   

Alternatives considered - The alternative to the proposed restriction was to continue 
with the current arrangements.  The proposed Traffic Regulation Order was intended 
to address the high demand for motorcycle parking at peak seasonal leisure times for 
which it as considered necessary to introduce the Order.

DECIDED – That the submitted objections be overruled and the Traffic 
Regulation Order Borough of Rochdale ((Civil Enforcement of Traffic 
Contraventions) (Various Streets) (Pennines Township) Order 2008) 
(Amendment) (No.52) Order. 
Eligible for call-in: Yes

Page 7



 

Subject:       Revenue Budget Update 2017/18 to 
2019/20

Status: For Publication

Report to: 
         Cabinet 
         Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee
         Townships
         JCC

Cabinet Member: Portfolio Holder for Finance

Date:
12th September 2016
11th October 2016
15th September and W/C 19th  September 2016
15th September 2016  

Report of: Director of Resources

Author Email:   

Author: Vicky Crossland

Tel: 01706 925409
vicky.crossland@rochdale.gov.uk

Comments from Statutory 
Officers:

Monitoring Officer:   Yes
Section 151 Officer: Yes 

Key Decision: No

1 Purpose of Report

1.1 To update Cabinet on the Revenue Budget 2017/18 to 2019/20.

1.2 To seek delegation to accept the Government’s offer of a four-year funding 
settlement.

2 Recommendations

2.1 Cabinet notes the Revenue Budget position for 2017/18 to 2019/20.

2.2 Cabinet notes the potential risks around the Revenue Budget.

2.3.      Cabinet approve that authority be delegated to the Director of Resources, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and the Leader of the Council, to 
discharge the following action on behalf of the Council:

1) The determination of whether the Council should accept the four year funding 
settlement offer, as outlined at 6.2.

2) That the delegation be extended to future years’ decisions in respect of the four 
year funding settlement offer.

2a      Reasons for Recommendation

2a.1   The Council is legally obliged to set a balanced revenue budget.

3 Main Text including alternatives considered/consultation carried out

Page 8

Agenda Item 4

mailto:vicky.crossland@rochdale.gov.uk


3.1 Alternatives and Risks considered

3.1.1 The Council is legally obliged to set a balanced revenue budget. The budget 
setting process is complex and must be undertaken in a planned way. Whilst 
budgets are prepared in accordance with the approved guidelines a number of 
alternative options relating to savings proposals and budget pressures are 
considered as part of the overall budget setting process.

3.1.2 The budget forecast has been based on known and anticipated levels of 
spending and resources. Significant budget risks are identified within the report.  

3.1.3 As part of the Local Government Finance Settlement 2016/17 the Government 
offered councils the opportunity to accept a four-year funding offer. The 
Government will offer any council that wishes to take it up a four-year funding 
settlement to 2019-20. Those councils that chose not to accept the offer, or do 
not qualify, will be subject to the existing yearly process for determining the 
local government finance settlement.

3.1.4 The Government has stated that barring exceptional circumstances and subject 
to the normal statutory consultation process for the local government finance 
settlement, the Government expects the amounts set out in the 2016/17 Local 
Government Finance Settlement to be the amounts presented to Parliament 
each year. However, it remains to be seen whether the economic outlook 
following the UK’s decision to leave the European Union constitutes exceptional 
circumstances and will result in the four-year offer being withdrawn or reset.

4 Consultation Undertaken/Proposed:
4.1. In June 2016, Cabinet approved the budget guidelines and timetable to be 

followed when setting the 2017/18 to 2019/20 revenue budget and these are 
currently being incorporated into Service budgets. This report was submitted to 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Townships in July. The key 
milestones from the timetable are

Date Group/Body Consideration

12th September Cabinet To note September Budget 
update report 

13th,15th September 
and w/c 19th 
September 

Employment & Equalities , 
JCC, Township Committees 
and residents

Consultation and awareness 
as to the Budget update for 
2017/18 and 2018/19 

11th October Corporate Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

To scrutinise September 
Budget update report

2nd February 2017 Cabinet To consider Budget update 
following Autumn Statement 
2016 announcements

7th February 2017 Corporate Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee

To scrutinise updated  
Budget 2017/18 and 2018/19  
report

15th February 2017 Cabinet To consider final Budget 
recommendations for 
2017/18 and 2018/19 

1st March 2017 Council Budget Fixing Council

Page 9



The current budget assumptions contained in the Budget 2017/18 and 2018/19 
are provided at Appendix 1. 

4.2. Stakeholders are consulted at appropriate stages throughout the budget 
preparation process. The Council is to undertake Public Engagement on the 
budget challenge involving residents, businesses and their representative 
bodies and other stakeholders. Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
Employment & Equalities and Townships and Joint Consultative Committees 
are consulted on the Budget Report to be submitted to Cabinet.

4.3. The outcome of the consultation with the Trade Unions via the JCC will be 
considered by the Employment and Equalities Committee.

5. Introduction

5.1 This report provides an update on the Council’s revenue budget position for 
2017/18 to 2019/20.  In June 2016, Cabinet approved the budget guidelines 
and timetable to be followed when setting the 2017/18 to 2019/20 revenue 
budget and these are currently being incorporated into Service budgets.

5.2 The timetable for the budget has been reviewed to allow consultation on the 
Council’s saving proposals to be undertaken. This has resulted in Budget Fixing 
Council moving from the 22nd February 2017 to 1st March 2017. 

5.3 This report is based on the best available information at the time of writing. 
There are a number of areas where the Council has not received information 
from Central Government which will impact on funding for the Council from 
2017/18 onwards. More information will be available following the Autumn 
Statement 2016, expected to be announced in late November/early December 
2016. 

5.4 The Provisional 2017/18 Local Government Finance Settlement will be 
published for consultation in December 2016 following the Autumn Statement, 
with the Final Settlement expected to be released in January 2017. This will 
have potential implications for the funding of the Council if Central Government 
considers the exit of the United Kingdom from the European Union “an 
exceptional item”. Until the outcome of these consultations are published and 
decisions taken by Central Government, there are further risks to the level of 
resources available to the Council, noting these may be reductions or 
increases.

5.5 Table 1 shows the key milestones leading to the publication of the Local 
government Finance Settlement 2017/18.

Table 1 Local Government Finance Settlement 2017/18 – Key Milestones

Issue Date
Autumn Statement 2016 Expected Late November/

early December 2016
Draft Local Government Finance Settlement 
2017/18 published for consultation

Expected mid-December 2016

Final Local Government Finance Settlement 
2017/18 published

Expected early January 2017

Page 10



5.6. Revenue Budget 2017/18 to 2019/20

5.6.1 In February 2016 the Council set a three year budget for 2016/17 to 2018/19. 
This budget identified a budget gap of £10.9m; £2.8m in 2017/18 and £8.1m in 
2018/19.

5.6.2. Based on the current assumptions the saving proposals required in order to 
meet the estimated budget gap are £30.4m in 2017/18 and £8.4m in 2018/19. 
The majority of the savings required are due to increased demand for services, 
inflationary increases, the use of one off funding in previous years to smooth 
the impact of reductions and balance the budget and an accounting change in 
presentation of savings requirement. Table 2 shows the Budget Gap 2017/18 to 
2018/19.

Table 2 – Budget Gap 2017/18 to 2018/19

2017/18

£’m

2018/19

£’m

Total

£’m

Budget Gap 30.417 8.416 38.833

5.6.3 Table 3 summarises the changes in assumptions since Budget Fixing Council 
February 2016.

Table 3 – Movement in Budget Gap since Budget Fixing Council 

 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
 £m £m £m
Gap per BFC Report 2016/17 2.774 10.909 18.531
Increased Resources    
Government Changes -1.206 -5.644 -9.569
    
Decreased Resources    
Government Changes 2.943 4.430 4.442
Local Decisions 0.273 0.273 0.273
 3.216 4.703 4.715
Net (Increase)/Decrease in Resources 2.010 -0.941 -4.854
Increase in Budget Requirements   
Local Decisions 1.892 3.453 4.957
Government Changes 2.003 2.378 2.790
Changes in Budget Assumptions 3.046 4.010 4.146
Service Specific Pressures ( accounting amendment, 
change in presentation) 18.856 19.356 19.356
 25.797 29.197 31.249
Decrease in Budget Requirements    
Changes in Budget Assumptions -0.164 -0.332 -0.506
 -0.164 -0.332 -0.506
    
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Budget Requirements 25.633 28.865 30.743
Revised Budget Gap 30.417 38.833 44.420

Page 11



5.6.4. The latest budget for 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20 is continually being 
updated and updates throughout the budget process. This report provides an 
update on the risks affecting the Revenue Budget for 2017/18 to 2019/20 since 
Budget Fixing Council in February 2016.  

5.6.5. Appendix 2 details the Revenue Budget 2017/18 to 2019/20.

5.7.      Savings Proposals 2017/18 to 2018/19

5.7.1    Relevant services have engaged in producing the saving proposals contained in  
the separate report on this agenda for Cabinet Members to consider.  

5.7.2    The Saving Proposals are classified as follows:

 Saving proposals not requiring service consultation

 Workforce proposals vacant posts

 Service Delivery consultation – Group 1

 Workforce only occupied posts

5.7.3 Table 4 details the Council’s savings proposals to be considered for consultation 
as part of a separate report on this Cabinet agenda, which provides savings 
proposals towards meeting the budget gap for 2017/18 and 2018/19:

Table 4 – Summary of Savings Proposals 2017/18 to 2018/19

Ongoing One off Ongoing One off Ongoing One off
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Budget Gap 30.417 - 8.416 - 38.833 -

Corporate Savings 5.937-      7.111-     2.191-     - 8.128-     7.111-     
Proposals not Requiring Service Consultation 7.044-      0.003-     1.133-     - 8.177-     0.003-     
Workforce - Vacant Posts 0.862-      - - - 0.862-     -
Discretionary Fees & Charges 0.244-      - - - 0.244-     -
Sub-total 14.087-    7.114-     3.324-     - 17.411-   7.114-     
Proposals subject to November consultation 
process 0.768-      - 0.029-     - 0.797-     -
Proposals requiring Service Consultation included 
in this report
Service Delivery Group 1 1.286-      - 1.297-     - 2.583-     -
Workforce 1.193-      - 0.185-     - 1.378-     -
Sub-total 2.479-      - 1.482-     - 3.961-     -
Proposals outside the Savings Programme 0.730-      0.500-     0.730-     0.500-     
Total Savings 18.064-    7.614-     4.835-     - 22.899-   7.614-     

Budget Gap to Address 12.353 7.614-     3.581 - 15.934 7.614-     

2017/18 2018/19 Total

5.7.4 The proposals not requiring service consultation are proposals which:

 Identify alternative financial resources to continue providing the service;

Realign budgets to match updated information;

Generate additional income for the Council without impacting on users;

 Improve the efficiency of delivering a service; 

Page 12



5.8. Budget Risks

 5.8.1. There are a number of financial risks to the Council in setting the budget for 
2017/18 and future years. The main risk is around the level of funding the 
Council receives / generates to provide services to the public and any growth in 
the demand for services. 

 5.8.2 In arriving at the revised Budget Gap of £38.8m by 2018/19 estimates have 
been made of the impact of the issues and risks affecting the budget.

5.9 Local Government Finance Settlement 2017/18

5.9.1.     As part of the 2016/17 Local Government Finance Settlement the Government 
stated that it will offer any council that wishes to take it up a four-year funding 
settlement to 2019-20. The Government has made a commitment to provide 
minimum allocations for each year of the Spending Review Period, should 
councils choose to accept the offer and if they have published an efficiency 
plan.

5.9.2  The Chancellor of the Exchequer has indicated he may revise government 
spending plans later this year in light of the UK’s vote to leave the European 
Union and that this year’s Autumn Statement could “reset” the public finances if 
the economy had slowed down.

5.9.3 In the Autumn statement 2016 the Chancellor of the Exchequer could include :

 Change the pledge to having a surplus by 2019/20 and accept that public 
sector net borrowing will rise because of the global and national 
slowdown in growth, or

 Reduce public sector funding further over the next four years to keep on 
target with the pledge to reduce borrowing , thereby reducing the funding 
to local authorities even further between 2017/18 – 2019/20.

5.9.4  The Autumn Statement 2016 announcement could be as tough or even tougher 
for local government for the next four years 2017/18 – 2020/21. The 
assumptions currently contained in this report are based on the Autumn 
statement 2015 until more information is available around November / 
December 2016.

5.10 Business Rates

5.10.1  Volatility of the Council’s valuation list remains a risk to the level of business 
rates income. Whilst provision has been made within the Council’s accounts to 
deal with the backdating of appeals, successful downward revaluations will 
reduce the amount of business rates income in future years.

5.10.2  The first revaluation under the business rates retention system is due in 2017. 
This requires the Valuation Office Agency (VOA) to reassess business 
properties and give them new Rateable Values (RV). The Council receives a 
Business Rates Top-up Grant, which is the difference between the amount of 
funding the government determines that the Council should receive under the 
Business Rates Retention scheme and the amount it expects to receive from its 
share of the business rate income.  Although top-up grant payments should be 

Page 13



adjusted, so that no authority will be worse off as a result of the revaluation, the 
Government has yet to announce the details of how the revaluation will operate. 
Subsequent appeals against the new valuations will be treated as part of the 
normal volatility of the rating list and will therefore impact on local authority 
budgets.

5.10.3  The Government has announced plans to improve the business rates system 
ahead of the 2017 revaluation, including modernising the appeals system. The 
Government stated that the outcomes of the review will be fiscally neutral 
overall. However, it is not known at this stage whether the review will be fiscally 
neutral at an individual local authority level.

5.10.4 Central Government has announced that by end of the Parliament Revenue 
Support Grant will be phased out and that councils will retain 100% of 
business rates generated nationally. As part of the move to 100% Business 
Rates Retention local government will also take on additional 
responsibilities. Central Government have published  consultation which 
sets out the change to local government financing and the potential areas of 
responsibility that could be transferred to councils. As part of the GM 
devolution , Greater Manchester is to pilot the move to 100% business rates 
in 2017/18 to provide the pathway for the retention of 100% business rates 
by all local authorities in 2020/21. Future budget reports will be provide 
updates as the pilot project is developed.

5.11     Council Tax

5.11.1 The Council’s budget assumes for planning purposes an increase in Council 
Tax for 2017/18, and 2018/19 and 2019/20 of 3.99%, comprising a 1.99% 
increase for general purposes and a 2% increase in respect of the adult care 
precept. This assumes that the Government will continue with its policy of 
allowing councils the flexibility to charge the adult social care precept.

5.11.2   Any variation in the level of Council Tax increase finally approved will have an 
impact on the forecast budget position.   

5.11.3 Each year the Council must set its taxbase for Council Tax purposes in January. 
Any decline in the taxbase from the level assumed in the budget will have 
financial implication for the Council, although growth in the the taxbase may 
increase available resources.

5.12 The New Homes Bonus Scheme

5.12.1  The New Homes Bonus Scheme is designed to provide incentives and rewards 
for Local Authorities who wish to build new homes in their areas. The scheme 
commenced in April 2011 and covers a 6 year period. The Government has 
consulted on amendments to the scheme, including reducing the number of 
years the bonus is paid over from 6 to 4 years. The Government has not yet 
published any changes to the scheme following the consultation, but there are 
likely to be implications for the Council’s budget

5.12.2 There is also a risk to the Council that the number of new homes estimated to 
be built in the borough will be different from that estimated resulting in a change 
in resources for the Council.

Page 14



5.13 Savings Proposals

5.13.1 Savings proposals for 2017/18 and 2018/19 are being considered in a separate 
report on this agenda. Subject to agreement, there is a risk to the overall budget 
of the non-achievement of these savings following the approval and/or 
implementation of the proposals. The budget to be set in March 2017, will 
incorporate the approved savings proposals for 2017/18 and 2018/19. 

5.14 Specific Grants and Contributions

5.14.1  The number and amount of specific grants received by the Council may be lower 
or higher than anticipated. The budget assumes no increase or reduction in 
specific grants. If the grant increases, a process has been introduced to review 
all additional income received and the expenditure which this income may fund 
before the service may incur additional expenditure. If the grant reduces, the 
impact is considered as part of the Council’s budget process and reviewed 
against Council Priorities. The known risks in respect of specific grants are 
detailed below.

5.14.2  Public Health Grant. Public Health Funding will change due to the application of 
a new formula for distribution which will be implemented in 2018/19 and future 
years. The outcome of this new formula is as yet unknown. The Public Health 
Grant is forecast to reduce by £442k in 2018/19 and a further £409k in future 
years.

5.14.3 Improved Better Care Fund. Indicative figures were provided in the Local 
Government Finance Settlement 2016/17, these assume that councils will 
increase Council Tax for the 2% Adult Social Care precept. If councils do not 
increase Council Tax for the Adult Social Care precept they will not receive 
further Better Care funding to compensate for this loss of income. Final Better 
Care Fund allocations are still to be confirmed and are likely to be different from 
those initially provided.

5.15 Academies

5.15.1The then Chancellor announced in his Autumn Statement 2015 the 
Government’s goal of ending local authorities’ role in running schools and all 
schools becoming an academy. The Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) has issued guidance on the transfer of Formula Grant to 
new Academies to recognise their establishment. 

5.15.2The conversion of schools to academies will result in a reduction in business 
rates income, as academies are entitled to 80% mandatory relief. Reduction in 
business rates income is estimated to be approximately £290k per annum, 
although this will depend on the rate of conversion of schools to academies. This 
figure has been assumed in the budget gap in this report.

5.15.3The conversion of schools to academies will also reduce the income for Council 
services that provide services to schools via service level agreements, estimated 
to be £285k in 2017/18 and £215k per annum from 2018/19. This figure has been 
assumed in the budget gap in this report.

Page 15



5.16Waste Disposal Levy

 The Waste Disposal Levy is calculated by a formula across Greater Manchester 
which takes account of recycling levels. Should Rochdale Borough not increase 
recycling at the same level as other GM Authorities this will impact on the levy 
and would lead to an increased cost to Rochdale Borough Council’s budget.

5.17National Living Wage

  The government announced in the Summer Budget 2015 that a new compulsory 
National Living Wage will be introduced from April 2016, at the rate of £7.20 for 
working people aged 25 and over. The Low Pay Commission will recommend 
future rises, with the aim to reach £9 an hour by 2020. The Council currently 
pays a living wage of £7.85, which is above the proposed National Living Wage. 
However, there remains significant financial risks in relation to costs of 
commissioned services as a result of the introduction of the National Living 
Wage.

5.18 Apprenticeship Levy

An Apprenticeship Levy is to be introduced from April 2017 to support the 
creation of apprenticeship posts. All organisations with a pay bill greater than 
£3m will be required to pay 0.5% of their pay bill which includes local authorities. 
The annual cost to the Council will be approximately £290k. This figure has been 
assumed in arriving at the budget gap in this report.

5.19 Pay Awards

In the Summer Budget 2015 the Government announced public sector pay awards 
would be limited to 1% for 4 years from 2016-17 onwards. If a pay award of over 1% 
were to be agreed, this would represent an additional cost to the Council above the level 
assumed in the budget. The 1% has been assumed in arriving at the budget gap in 
this report.

5.20 Inflation

The budget does not include a provision for price increases except in the case of 
certain contracts. Services have to manage any inflationary increases in prices 
within their service budgets. There is a risk that services will not be able to 
achieve this.

5.21 Superannuation Contribution Rates

The employer superannuation contribution rate increases assumed are 0.9% in in 
2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21. The next valuation of the fund is due in 2016, 
therefore the rate of increase assumed are subject to change following this valuation and 
future decisions by Members. The 0.9% increase has been assumed in arriving at 
the budget gap in this report.

Page 16



5.22 Investment Income

The current low interest rates and the implications of the economic slowdown 
continue to impact on the level of interest the Council is able to achieve on its 
investments.

5.23 Fees and charges income 

The impact of any economic slowdown on levels of usage of charged for Council 
services could lead to income levels not being achieved.

5.24 Increased demand for services

The impact of the economic climate and Welfare Reform changes on the 
residents of Rochdale Borough, and the increased demand this may have for 
Council services, could impact on the cost of services, as could general 
demographic changes.

5.25 Continued impact of 2016/17 budget issues

Monitoring of the 2016/17budget will provide Cabinet with regular updates on any 
pressures/savings for the Council. Any associated on going implications will be 
incorporated into the budget projections for 2017/18 and future years.

5.26 Greater Manchester Devolution

5.26.1 The Council forms part of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority and in 
the coming years will play an integral part in the devolution opportunities 
available to Greater Manchester under the Devolution/ Northern Powerhouse 
agreements. 

5.26.2 The Council is developing transformation and integration of health and social 
care provision across the locality of Rochdale working with partners in the 
Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and 
key providers. A Locality Plan identifies the financial gap over the next 5 
financial years and describes the developments to address this gap. This is a 
new area of development and as such carries greater risk, which is recognised 
in the budget process. 

5.27 Economic Outlook / Brexit

Public services governance and public finance are significantly linked to the UK’s 
membership of the European Union. The decision by the UK to leave the EU will 
impact on public services delivery, demand, supply chains and finance for local 
government. At this stage it is unclear as to what degree local government will be 
impacted. 

6 Financial Implications

6.1 The financial implications of the Revenue Budget are included in the main body 
of the report.  

6.2. The Four-year Funding Settlement

Page 17



6.2.1 As part of the Local Government Finance Settlement 2016/17, Central 
Government offered councils the opportunity to accept a four year funding offer. 
This would provide a council that wishes to take it up, a four-year funding 
settlement to 2019-20. For Rochdale Council this meant that we would know for 
four years how much Revenue Support Grant (RSG) we would receive. 

6.2.2 The four-year settlement provides RSG figures for 2016/17 to 2019/20, as 
shown in Table 6. The introduction of 100% Business Rates reduction by 2020 
will mean the phasing out of RSG, although how this will work in practice is not 
known at this stage. 

Table 6 – The Four-year Offer

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
£m £m £m £m

Revenue Support Grant 39.273 29.812 23.410 16.947

6.2.3 Central Government stated that it “is making a clear commitment to provide 
minimum allocations for each year of the Spending Review period, should 
councils choose to accept the offer and if they have published an efficiency 
plan.” In order to take up this offer councils must notify Central Government of 
their acceptance and publish an efficiency plan or include in their Medium Term 
Financial Strategy by 14th October 2016. Those councils that chose not to 
accept the offer, or do not qualify, will be subject to the existing yearly process 
for determining the local government finance settlement. 

6.2.4 Central Government, however, stated in the four year offer, “barring exceptional 
circumstances “and subject to the normal statutory consultation process for the 
local government finance settlement, the expectation is that these would be the 
amounts presented to Parliament each year for the four year period. We await 
confirmation whether the impact of the UK referendum and the slowdown in the 
economy will be “exceptional circumstances” thus requiring a review of the 
figures. For planning purposes we have assumed the figures included in Table 
6.

7 Legal Implications

7.1 The Council is under a duty to calculate the budget in accordance with Section 
32 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and must make three 
calculations namely: an estimate of the Council’s gross revenue expenditure; 
an estimate of anticipated income; and a calculation of the difference between 
the two. The amount of the budget requirement must be sufficient to meet the 
Council’s budget commitments and ensure a balanced budget. The amount of 
the budget requirement must leave the Council with adequate financial 
reserves. The level of budget requirement must not be unreasonable having 
regard to the Council’s fiduciary duty to its Council Tax payers and non-
domestic rate payers.  

7.2 Failure to make a lawful Council Tax by 11th  March, in the financial year 
preceding that for which it is set, could have serious financial and reputational 
consequences for the Council and make the Council vulnerable to an Order 
from the Courts requiring it to make a determined Council Tax.

Page 18



7.3 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 places a general duty on local 
authorities to make arrangements for ‘the proper administration of their financial 
affairs'.

7.4 Information must be published and included in the Council Tax demand notice. 
The Secretary of State has made regulations, which require charging 
authorities to issue demand notices in a form and with contents prescribed by 
these regulations.

7.5 There is also a duty under Section 65 of the 1992 Act to consult persons or 
bodies appearing to be representative of persons subject to non-domestic rates 
in each area about proposals for expenditure (including capital expenditure) for 
each financial year.

8 Personnel Implications

8.1 There are no direct personnel implications arising as a result of this report. 

8.2 Consultation in relation to savings proposals will be undertaken in accordance 
with the Council’s established formal staff consultation processes including 
meetings of the Joint Consultative Committee and Service Consultative 
Groups. 

9 Corporate Priorities

9.1 This report meets all the corporate priorities identified in the Council’s 
Corporate Plan and Place Plan. This report supports governance arrangements 
remaining strong during this period of significant change.

10 Risk Assessment Implications 

10.1 The risks to the Revenue Budget have been detailed in the main body of the 
report.

10.2 Capital externally funded schemes cannot start until confirmation of the 
required funding has been received. This is a particular risk where the scheme 
is reliant on external funding with the provisional budget being based on 
forecast income. Should the level of income not be received, the level 
expenditure would need to be considered to allow the scheme to progress with 
a reduced budget.

11 Equalities Impacts

11.1 Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment

11.1.1 Workforce equality impact assessments will be provided with any savings 
proposals and an overall workforce equality impact assessment on the budget 
will be presented to facilitate final decision making.

11.2 Equality/Community Impact Assessments

Page 19



11.2.1 Equality Impact assessments will be provided with any savings proposals and 
an overall equality impact assessment on the budget will be presented to 
facilitate final decision making.

Background Papers
Document Place of Inspection
Revenue and Capital Budget 
2017/18 Files

Revenue Budget, Capital 
Budget and Council Tax 
2016/17. 

Finance Services

Finance Services

Page 20



APPENDIX 1

Budget Assumptions for Planning Purposes 2017/18, 2018/19 and  2019/20

Area of Budget 2017/18 
Assumption

2018/19 
Assumption

2019/20 
Assumption

Council Tax    
General Increase             
(For Planning 
Purposes)

1.99% 
Increase

1.99% 
Increase

1.99% 
Increase

Adult Care Precept 2% Increase 2% Increase 2% Increase

Total Council Tax 3.99% 
Increase

3.99% 
Increase

3.99% 
Increase

    

Revenue Support Grant 24.1%      
Decrease

21.5%       
Decrease

27.6 %    
Decrease

Business Rates 
(NNDR) 2% Increase 2% Increase 2% Increase

Top Up Grant 2% Increase 2% Increase 2% Increase

General Grants 23% 
Decrease

19.6% 
Decrease

0.1% 
Decrease

Settlement Funding 
Overall Impact

10% overall 
decrease

7.1% overall 
decrease

6% overall 
decrease

    
Pay 1% Increase 1% Increase 1% Increase
    

0.90% 0.90% 0.90%Superannuation Increase Increase Increase

Contribution Rate (20.6%) 
(contribution)

(21.5%) 
(contribution)

(22.4%) 
(contribution)

    
Prices* 0% 0% 0%
Discretionary Fees & 
Charges 2% Increase 2% Increase 2% Increase

Waste Disposal Levy 12.23% 
Increase

7.36% 
Increase

2.39%    
Increase

PTA Levy 1.00%   
Increase

1.00%   
Increase

1.00%     
Increase

    
* Prices – Contractual arrangements and other significant inflation 
issues will be considered on a case by case basis. 

Page 21



APPENDIX 2

GENERAL FUND SUMMARY ESTIMATES 2017/18 - 2019/20   
     

  SERVICE 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
     
   £'000  £'000  £'000 

     

1 Adult Care 57,094 58,018 59,214 

2 Children’s Services 57,268 57,070 56,337 

3 Economy 17,577 17,688 18,020 

4 Neighbourhoods 48,527 49,751 49,425 

5 Resources 5,935 5,971 6,118 

6 Public Health and Wellbeing 2,680 2,727 2,735 

7 TOTAL 189,081 191,225 191,849 
     

8 Finance Control -2,571 -86 2,759 

9 Contingency 12,176 14,468 16,120 
     

10 SERVICES SUB TOTAL 198,686 205,607 210,728 

11 Budget Pressures Fund 2,000 4,000 6,000 

12 TOTAL REQUIREMENTS 200,686 209,607 216,728 

13 Contribution To/(From) Reserves/Balances 0 0 0 

14 NET EXPENDITURE REQUIREMENTS 200,686 209,607 216,728 
     

15 BUDGET REQUIREMENT 200,686 209,607 216,728 
     
 RESOURCES    

16 Formula Grant -29,812 -23,410 -16,947 

17 General Grants -7,282 -5,852 -5,891 

18 Improved Better Care Fund -969 -5,361 -9,240 
19 Top-Up Grant -26,319 -26,846 -27,383 
20 Business Rates Retained -31,259 -31,879 -32,517 
21 Council Tax Freeze Grant 0 0 0 

22 Council Tax -74,628 -77,426 -80,330 

23 Collection fund Deficit - - - 

24 TOTAL RESOURCES -170,269 -170,774 -172,308 
     

25 BUDGET REQUIREMENTS 30,417 38,833 44,420 
26 Less funding from one year only savings    
27 UNFUNDED ONGOING REQUIREMENT 30,417 38,833 44,420 

Page 22



 

Subject: Savings Programme 2017/18 and
2018/19

Status: For Publication

Report to:
Cabinet
Employment and Equalities Committee
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Townships
Joint Consultative Committee

Cabinet Member: Portfolio Holder for Finance

Date:
12th  September 2016
13th September 2016
11th October 2016
15th September and w/c 19th September 2016
15th September 2016

Report of: Director of Resources

Author Email:  Pauline.kane@rochdale.gov.uk
tracey.bland@rochdale.gov.uk   
vicky.crossland@rochdale.gov.uk

Author: Pauline Kane /Tracey Bland/
Vicky Crossland

Tel: 01706 925002

Comments from Statutory Officers: Yes

Key Decision: Yes

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1. Based on current assumptions the Council needs to make savings of £38.8m over the 
next two years to set a balanced budget. A previous report on this agenda explained 
how this figure was arrived at. Cabinet Members are to consider the budget position 
for Rochdale Council and the funding requirements for 2017/18 and 2018/19 over the 
coming months leading to the submission of a budget to Budget Fixing Council on 1st 
March 2017. 

1.2. This report sets out for Cabinet Members the initial savings proposals to consider in 
reducing this funding gap.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. It is recommended that Cabinet Members consider the saving proposals contained in 
this report, for consultation, and note the consultation timetable and process detailed 
in the report. 

2a REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

2a.1 The Council is legally required to set a balanced budget.

2 MAIN TEXT INCLUDING ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED/ CONSULTATION 
CARRIED OUT

Page 23

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Pauline.kane@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:tracey.bland@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:vicky.crossland@rochdale.gov.uk


2.1 Alternatives and Risks considered:

2.1.1 Consideration has been given to a number of options in putting forward these 
proposals and the report outlines any alternatives. To do nothing was not considered 
to be an option as the Council is legally required to set a balanced budget.

2.1.2 Cabinet Members could decide not to implement these proposals and provide 
alternative options to enable a balanced budget to be achieved.

Consultation Proposed:

2.1.3 Consultation is to be undertaken with the public, stakeholder groups, staff and service 
users as appropriate. It is proposed to have 2 groups of Savings Proposals where 
consultation is to be undertaken.  Group 1 will commence consultation on 15th 
September 2016 and follow the process outlined in paragraph 3.1.7.  Group 2 will 
commence consultation on 24th November 2016.

2.1.4 Directorates have engaged in producing the saving proposals contained in this report 
for Cabinet Members to consider.  The report will be presented to Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee on 11th October 2016 and The Trade Unions will be informed 
at Joint Consultative Committee 15th September 2016 and throughout the process.

2.1.5 The Saving Proposals are classified as follows:

 Saving proposals not requiring service consultation or will form part of 
consultation outside of this process

 Workforce proposals vacant posts

 Service Delivery only consultation

 Service delivery with workforce occupied posts

 Workforce only occupied posts

2.1.6 Table 1 below illustrates the consultation and approval processes for the savings 
proposals. 

Table 1 Approval and Implementation Stages for the Savings Proposals, subject to 
consultation

Savings proposal 
type

Consultation Approval Implementation

Workforce 
proposals vacant 
posts

No occupied posts  
affected

Post deleted via Council 
delegated decision making 
(DDM) process

Following Cabinet 
12th September

Service Delivery 
only consultation

Public consultation
45 days

Budget Fixing Council 1st 
March 2017.

Following BFC 

Service delivery 
with Council 
workforce 
implications

Public consultation
     45 days
Workforce 
consultation
   45 days

Budget Fixing Council 1st 
March 2017.

Following BFC 

Workforce only 
occupied posts

Workforce 
consultation
   45 days

Workforce changes 
approved via Council DDM 
process after consultation

November 2016 
implementation

Page 24



2.1.7 All the proposals in Group 1 will be implemented in 2016/17 and will therefore achieve 
a full year’s savings in 2017/18.  

2.1.8 The proposals that effect Service Delivery only (SD) and Workforce (occupied posts) 
only (WF) in Group 2 will be implemented in 2016/17 and will therefore achieve a full 
year’s savings in 2017/18. However the proposals with an effect on both Service 
Delivery and the Workforce will not be implemented until 2017/18 due to the second 
round of consultation falling in March 2017.  A full year’s savings cannot be achieved 
and therefore any shortfall will need to be met from one-off resources in 2017/18. 

2.1.9 The diagram below shows when the two groups will consult:

 

WF

Group 1 Group 2

SD SD

SD SDWF WF

WF

Start – 15th Sep

Finish – 31st  Oct

Finish – 9th  Jan

Start – 24th Nov

Start – 13th  Mar

Finish – 27th Apr

Page 25



Introduction

2.1.10 Over the previous seven years the Council has approved £159.3m of ongoing savings. 
The graph below illustrates the saving profile 2010/11 to 2016/17 based on the year 
they were approved.

Graph One - Savings Profile 2010/11 to 2016/17

2.1.11 The impact of the savings has led to a reduced workforce. The chart below highlights 
the reduction in full time employees in the Council excluding schools from 3,847 FTE 
down to 2,424 FTE The graph also highlights the workforce profile for 
Schools/Education Services.

Graph Two - Workforce Profile Data for Total Council (FTEs)

2.1.12 Central Government currently has a sustained programme of austerity measures to 
reduce the budget deficit by 2019/20, resulting in substantial reductions in public 
funding including those resources provided to Local Authorities. 

Page 26



2.1.13 The wider impact of the austerity measures has been an increase in demand for public 
services as changes such as welfare reform have impacted on residents. This has put 
increased financial pressure on services the Council provides. 

2.1.14 Locally, changes in the demographics of the Borough’s population mean that demand 
for public services, if delivered in the same way as now, will grow and grow, 
particularly the demand for acute services (adult and children’s social care).

2.1.15 Taking all of the current assumptions into account the saving proposals that are 
required amount to £38.8m.  This is comprised of £30.4m in 2017/18 and £8.4m in 
2018/19. The majority of the budget gap (the difference between the funds we have 
available compared to the amount we estimate that we need to spend on services) 
identified by the Council is due to :

 reduced Government grants, 
 increased demand for services, 
 inflationary increases, 
 and the use of one off funding in previous years to smooth the impact of 

reductions and balance the budget.

Table 2 - The Budget Gap

2017/18 2018/19 Total
£m £m £m

Total Budget Gap 30.4 8.4 38.8

3.1.16. Cabinet members have had access to any identified risks associated with the savings 
proposals and the relevant Equality Impact Assessment as detailed in the individual 
saving proposals report provided for decision making purposes.

4 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
4.1 The financial information contained in this report is based on current assumptions and 

published updates provided from Government departments at this point.  As further 
information is made available from Central Government update reports will be provided 
to Cabinet as part of the budget setting process. 

4.2 In February 2016 the Council provisionally set a budget for 2017/18 and 2018/19 
which contained a number of assumptions. These assumptions have been reviewed 
and the updated assumptions are included in the Revenue Budget Update report on 
this agenda.

4.3 Table 3 details the Council’s savings proposals being considered within this report 
towards meeting the budget gap for 2017/18 and 2018/19.

Page 27



Table 3 - Savings Proposals 2017/18 and 2018/19

Ongoing One off Ongoing One off Ongoing One off
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Budget Gap 30.417 - 8.416 - 38.833 -

Corporate Savings 5.937-      7.111-     2.191-     - 8.128-     7.111-     
Proposals not Requiring Service Consultation 7.044-      0.003-     1.133-     - 8.177-     0.003-     
Workforce - Vacant Posts 0.862-      - - - 0.862-     -
Discretionary Fees & Charges 0.244-      - - - 0.244-     -
Sub-total 14.087-    7.114-     3.324-     - 17.411-   7.114-     
Proposals subject to November consultation 
process 0.768-      - 0.029-     - 0.797-     -
Proposals requiring Service Consultation included 
in this report
Service Delivery Group 1 1.286-      - 1.297-     - 2.583-     -
Workforce 1.193-      - 0.185-     - 1.378-     -
Sub-total 2.479-      - 1.482-     - 3.961-     -
Proposals outside the Savings Programme 0.730-      0.500-     0.730-     0.500-     
Total Savings 18.064-    7.614-     4.835-     - 22.899-   7.614-     

Budget Gap to Address 12.353 7.614-     3.581 - 15.934 7.614-     

2017/18 2018/19 Total

4.4 The proposals not requiring service consultation are proposals which :

 Identify alternative financial resources to continue providing the service;

 Realign budgets to match updated information;

 Generate additional income for the Council without impacting on users;

 Improve the efficiency of delivering a service; 

4.5 The reductions with no service delivery or workforce implications do not require 
consultation. These proposals generate on going savings of £7.044m in 2017/18 and a 
further £1.133m in 2018/19. One proposal provides the Council with one off resources 
£0.003m in 2017/18 which it is proposed to fund the budget gap in this year .

4.6 Saving proposals which reduced the number of permanent posts in the Council that 
are currently vacant will form part of the current Delegated Decision Making process 
where staff and trade unions will be consulted through the Service Consultative Group 
(SCG) process. These proposals generate on going savings of £0.862m .

4.7 There are a number of savings proposals which generate additional income for the 
Council and will be included in the Discretionary Fees and Charges Report to be 
presented to Cabinet in October 2016. These saving proposals generated ongoing 
savings of £0.244m. 

4.8 The Saving proposals which require consultation with either key stakeholders or the 
workforce as the posts are occupied generate savings ongoing of £2.479m in 2017/18 
and a further £1.482m in 2018/19. 
Appendix A Service Delivery Group 1

Page 28



Appendix B Workforce Only – Appendix B to this report is included on the private 
agenda of this meeting as it contains exempt 
information which is likely to reveal the identity of an 
individual.

4.9. There are savings proposals identified which will be considered at stage 2 consultation 
in November to allow development of the proposals which will generate ongoing 
savings of £0.797m, ( £0.768m in 2017/18 and £0.029m in 2018/19) and savings 
proposals to be consulted upon outside of this process which would generate ongoing 
savings of £0.730m in 2017/18 and a one off saving in 2017/18 of £0.500m.

5 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
5.1 Where relevant, specific legal issues have been identified in the individual savings 

proposal reports. Legal advice has also been provided in relation to the Equality Act 
duties, and recent case law decisions on both consultation requirements and equality 
impact assessments.

5.2 Advice has been provided on the following:

 The need to ensure that service reductions do not constitute a failure on the 
part of the Council to fulfill statutory duties

 The need to be aware of contractual arrangements with third parties which can 
only be varied by agreement or which (if that does not prove possible) can only 
be terminated by substantial notice periods and consider the financial 
implications of any variations

 The need to be aware of restrictions which affect property assets. Some have 
restrictions on usage, some have conditions attached to gifts and planning 
restrictions might apply. On this last aspect, there needs to be separation of the 
Council’s statutory role from that of property owner.

 Some proposals may ultimately involve the transfer of staff with the resultant 
need to undertake statutory consultations

 Some proposals will involve potential redundancy. This will involve statutory 
consultations.

 Advice on contractual, procurement law matters (including staff related 
matters).

6 PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
6.1 The personnel implications arising for the proposals contained within this report 

summarised below;

 Some of these proposals will/may result in a reduction in the number of 
established posts within the Council and depending on the outcome of 
consultation and final decisions made, these will be deleted as a consequence 
of these proposals. 

 The Council will apply its established policies and procedures to identify which 
posts are identified as potentially redundant and which employees will be at risk 
of redundancy. This will include the application of the Council’s redundancy 
selection criteria where this would need to be applied.

 Where posts proposed to be deleted are occupied the employee(s) concerned 
will become at risk of redundancy.

Page 29



 All employees affected will be provided with support through the Council’s 
established procedures for dealing with staff that are at risk of redundancy.

 Through the application of these policies and procedures, the Council will seek 
to minimize the number of employees who may be compulsory redundant.  In 
this respect, the Council will seek to provide suitable alternative employment 
wherever this is possible and will seek to achieve reductions by voluntary 
measures wherever possible, by seeking volunteers for early 
retirement/voluntary redundancy in areas where staff are affected by the 
proposals.

 The proposals will be subject to full consultation with staff and trade unions in 
line with statutory requirements.   It is considered that the total number of jobs 
affected during the budget setting process is likely to be around 100. Therefore 
the Council is preparing to comply with the statutory minimum consultation 
period of 45 days before making final decisions on its proposals.  In addition, 
the Council will also ensure that the consultation process is meaningful and that 
full consideration is given to the outcome and any comments which are made 
before final decisions are made regarding implementation, which is also a legal 
requirement.

 The outcome of consultations will be reported to Members of the relevant 
Committees to allow for full consideration of feedback and final decisions will 
be made on the proposals taking into account the outcome of consultation.

7 CORPORATE PRIORITIES
7.1 The revenue budget is set at Budget Fixing Council and resources are allocated in line 

with the corporate priorities of the Council.

8 RISK ASSESSMENT IMPLICATIONS
8.1 The Council is required to set a lawful budget for 2017/18 by the by 11th March 2017 

and there is a risk if we do not responsibly put forward proposals for consideration to 
meet the budget reductions/pressures.

8.2 Risk implications have been added where applicable within individual detailed reports.  
To manage this risk we have sought to supply Cabinet members with copies of all 
available implications to make informed decisions.

8.3 Any identified potential risks associated with the savings proposals provided at 
Appendix A and the relevant Equality Impact Assessment will be made available on 
the Council’s website as part of the public consultation.

9 ASSET IMPLICATIONS
9.1 The proposals contained in the report may have implications for the Council’s estate, 

details of which are included in individual detailed reports where appropriate.
10 JOINT WORKING
10.1 The proposals contained in the report may have implications for joint working, details 

of which are included in individual detailed reports where appropriate.
11 EQUALITIES IMPACTS
11.1 The Council is required to assess/analyse the potential effect on quality of its 

proposals at each stage of the process.  Equality Impact Assessments (EIA) have 
been undertaken and for all relevant proposals the EIAs have been produced for 

Page 30



Members for consideration.  The Council must consider these assessments and have 
due regard to the general equality duty in the decision making process.

11.2 The Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is a working document which is to be 
continually developed from the onset of the development of the proposal to the 
consultation and then the final decision making stage.  This means that as further 
detail becomes available through consultation, the EIA is updated , finalised and made 
available to Cabinet before a final decision is reached.

Workforce Equality Impact Assessment

11.3 A workforce impact assessment will be undertaken to understand how the overall 
proposals   affect the make-up of the workforce.

11.4 The Council undertook a workforce EIA for the savings process in previous years. The 
same analysis will be undertaken for the cohort of staff affected by the savings 
proposals in 2017/18 and 2018/19.  A full equalities impact assessment will be 
undertaken following the implementation of the savings proposals, at which point we 
may need to revisit our equalities action plan or other policies.

11.5 The full workforce implications will be communicated to the Employment & Equalities 
Committee.

Equality/Economic/Community/Voluntary Sector Impact Assessments

General Service User

11.6 EIAs will be used to check whether proposals impact differentially on any groups with 
‘protected characteristics’ under the Equality Act 2010.  Initial assessments have been 
undertaken for the proposals presented and will be reviewed at the end of the 
consultation period, taking account of all consultation feedback received and whether 
any new or different equalities issues have been raised.  The EIAs will be available to 
the public via the website and also in hard copies in libraries and customer service 
centres. The conclusions and any specific issues relating to individual proposals are 
reflected in the appendices to the detailed proposal reports.

11.7 All feedback from the public consultation will be reviewed to identify any additional 
implications for the equalities issues; these will be reflected in individual post 
consultation proposal reports presented to Cabinet for decision making.

Community Impact Assessments

11.8 The detailed reports for the savings proposals highlight any possible community 
impacts, consultation responses received will be assessed for any new/different 
community impacts.

11.9 An overall assessment will also be undertaken to understand the possible overarching 
and community impacts of the proposals.  A summary of the key findings from this 
assessment will be provided to Cabinet Members.  Proposals will be allocated a high, 
moderate and low impact according to their impact.

Voluntary Sector Impact Assessment
11.10 The proposals detailed in the report may have implications for the voluntary and 

community sectors, details of which will be included in individual detailed reports.

Page 31



   

Background Papers
Document Place of Inspection
Savings Programme 2017/18 & 2018/19 – 
Detailed reports and Equality Impact 
Assessments

Finance Services

Revenue and Capital Budget 2017/18 Files Finance Services

Page 32



    APPENDIX A
SAVINGS PROPOSALS WITH SERVICE IMPLICATIONS- GROUP 1     
      

Reference Proposal

 
Ongoing 
Saving 

2017/18 
£'000

 One 
Off 

Saving 
2017/18 

£'000

 
Ongoing 
Saving 

2018/19 
£'000

 One 
Off 

Saving 
2018/19 

£'000
Adult Care
AC-2017-301 Remodel supported living offer for people with 

learning disabilities 200  727  

AC-2017-302 Changes to Adult Care charging policy 141  54  
 Total Adult Care 341 0 781 0
      

Children’s Services
CS-2017-303

Remodelling of the Educational Welfare  Service 60    

CS-2017-304 Proposed cessation of Mobile Play Team 44    
CS-2017-305 Rationalisation of additional funding for Child 

and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS)   350  

CS-2017-306 Reshape of Children's Social Care delivery 200  150  
CS-2017-307 Restructure Youth Offending Service 80    
CS-2017-308 Remodel and Review the Contact Service 70    

CS-2017-309 Review of Funding for Play Schemes 24  16  

 Total Children's Services 478 0 516 0
      

Neighbourhoods
NH-2017-310 Proposal to review the Legal Advice: Welfare, 

Debt and Housing support 85    

NH-2017-311 Review of Community Centre grant funding 75    
NH-2017-312 Continued provision of School Crossing Patrols 

at a charge to schools 272    

 Total Neighbourhoods 432 0 0 0
      

Public Health
PH-2017-313 Removal of Buy with Confidence Scheme 35    

 Total Public Health 35 0 0 0
      

Grand Total 1,286 0 1,297 0

Page 33



Financial Year 2017/18
Proposal no. AC-2017-301
Directorate Adult Services

Public Summary

Proposal Title:  Re-model of Supported Living Offer for people with 
Learning Disabilities

1. Overview of proposal

Remodel the Supported Living offer for people with learning disabilities to 
develop a wider range of care and support options at reduced costs

2. Overall impact of proposed change

A review of the number of group homes within the Rochdale Borough and an 
increase in alternative types of care and accommodation to meet the needs of 
people with learning disabilities

3. Impact on affected service users

Care needs met through new wider range of care and support options, 
including Learning Disability Extra Care and Residential care 

4. Savings total

£200,000 in 2017/18, £727,000 in 2018/19 , Total savings £927,000

Page 34



Financial Year 2017/18
Proposal no. AC-2017-302
Directorate Adult Social Care

Public Summary

Proposal Title: Changes to Adult Care Charging Policy

1. Overview of proposal

Changes are proposed to the Adult Care Charging Policy from April 2017.  
These changes will bring the Charging Policy in line with national changes to 
benefits and pension payments.

It is proposed to link the minimum income guarantee (the amount of income 
we ‘protect’ from charges) to an individuals’ pensionable age rather than their 
actual age.

It is proposed to stop disregarding the higher rate of Disability Living Allowance 
(DLA) as part of the financial assessment.  This is linked to changes to DLA for 
service users of non-pensionable age and the move towards the Personal 
Independent Payment instead. It is proposed to remove the cap on charges for 
non-residential care and support.

2. Overall impact of proposed change

Some service users will be expected to pay more for their non-residential care 
and support and some will pay less for their residential care, of the net impact 
of this change is £195,000 per annum.

3. Impact on affected service users

Service users who are 60 years plus but not yet at pensionable age could be 
required to pay more for their non-residential care and support and less for any 
residential care, subject to a means test and the value of their care and 
support. Service users receiving the higher rate of Disability Living Allowance 
could be required to pay more for their care and support, subject to a means 
test and the value of their care and support.

Service users who receive services following a detainment under the Mental 
Health Act could be required to start paying for their care and support where 
these services do not relate to the reason for the detainment.

4. Savings total

£141,000 in 2017/18 and £54,000 in 2018/19. Total Saving £195,000.

Page 35



 

Financial Year 2017/18
Proposal no. CS-2017-303

Directorate Children’s 
Services

Public Summary

Proposal Title: Remodelling of the Educational Welfare Service

1. Overview of proposal

It is proposed that the service provided to Schools by the Education Welfare 
Service is remodelled.

2. Overall impact of proposed change

The impact from this proposal is to ensure that support to schools to improve 
attendance is targeted to schools and families where there is the greatest need 
to improve.

3. Impact on affected service users

 The Council will still be fulfilling its statutory duty to support good attendance, 
the universal support to schools beyond this would be reviewed. 

4. Savings total

The total saving from this proposal would be a £60,000 in 2017/18

Page 36



Financial Year 2017/18
Proposal no. CS-2017-304

Directorate Children’s 
Services

Public Summary

Proposal Title:  Proposed cessation of mobile play team 

1. Overview of proposal

The proposal is to cease operating the mobile Play Team. The Mobile Play 
team visits locations across the borough, in each of the four townships on a 
revolving six week basis, between June  2016 and August 1st 2016,  the 
Mobile Play Team has delivered 36 play sessions with 352 individual children 
attending (some a number of times) 

2. Overall impact of proposed change

The proposal will mean that the Council no longer provides any out of school, 
open access play provision for children aged between 4 and 11 years of age.

3. Impact on affected service users

There will be a removal of Council funded, organised free play opportunities for 
children in the borough 

4. Savings total

The total saving from this proposal would be £44,000 

Page 37



Financial Year 2017/18
Proposal no. CS-2017-305

Directorate Children’s 
Services

Public Summary

Proposal Title: Rationalisation of the additional funding for Child 
and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)

1. Overview of proposal

To rationalise the additional support currently provided by the Council for Child 
and Adolescent Mental Health Services recognising that young people 
identified as having issues with mental health would access support through 
conventional means

2. Overall impact of proposed change

There will be no direct access to the CAMHS service for young people 
involved with children’s social care, through the social work team currently 
based in CAMHS, however access to the overall service will still be available 
through conventional means.  Additional service provision to support emotional 
wellbeing of young people is also now available through Healthy Young Minds 
Service which is part of the recently commissioned transformation programme.  

3. Impact on affected service users

There should be no impact on service users who will still be able to access the 
Healthy Young Minds Service.

4. Savings total

The total saving from this proposal would be £350,000 in 2018/19.

Page 38



Financial Year 2017/18
Proposal no. CS-2017-306

Directorate Children’s 
Services

Public Summary

Proposal Title: Reshape of Children’s Social Care delivery

1. Overview of proposal

To re-shape children social care services to achieve a saving of £350,000  
over two years, in response to continuing reduction in demand and focus on 
provision of early help.

2. Overall impact of proposed change

Reshaping of Children’s Social Care over 2017/18 and 2018/19 will provide 
sufficient services for children who need the service.

3. Impact on affected service users

If demand continues to reduce there should be no impact on service users. If 
the current downward trajectory was to change, service users would be 
impacted as caseloads would increase. Mitigation is in place to reduce the 
risks of this.  

4. Savings total

£200,000 in 2017/18 and £150,000 in 2018/19. Total Saving £350,000

Page 39



Financial Year 2017/18
Proposal no. CS-2017-307

Directorate Children’s 
services

Public Summary

Proposal Title:  Review of Youth Offending Service

1. Overview of proposal

To review the Youth Offending Service across Rochdale and Bury in light of 
legislative and demand changes

2. Overall impact of proposed change

A rationalisation of the service to meet future demand and respond to 
changes in legislation

3. Impact on affected service users

There should be no impact on the service users

4. Savings total

The total saving in Rochdale from this proposal would be £80,000 per annum

Page 40



Financial Year 2017/18
Proposal no. CS-2017-308
Directorate Children’s Services

Public Summary

Proposal Title: Remodel and Review the Contact Service 

1. Overview of proposal

Remodel and review the delivery of the Contact Service to provide a saving of 
£70,000.

2. Overall impact of proposed change

 Review is likely to result in a change to the approach to delivery of 
contact service in light of service needs and role of services and others 
in the process.

3. Impact on affected service users

The expectation and duty will remain for each cared for child to have an 
individual contact plan (as per current policy and procedures) which will be 
subject to regular review as part of the statutory review process. Potential 
changes will be managed to minimise any disruption to our cared for children 
and their families.

4. Savings total

The total savings from this proposal is estimated at £70,000 per annum

Page 41



Financial Year 2017/18
Proposal no. CS-2017-309

Directorate Children’s 
Services

Public Summary

Proposal Title: Review of Funding for Play Schemes

1. Overview of proposal

The proposal is to cease grant funding for holiday play scheme provision in the 
borough. This is funded currently through a grant and is used to support, 
develop and fund voluntary run holiday play schemes across the borough. 

2. Overall impact of proposed change

The proposal will mean that the Council no longer providers any funding to 
support voluntary run holiday play schemes in the borough, for children aged 
between 4 and 14 years of age. However the current grant recipient as an 
independent organisation does have the ability to apply for other sources of 
grant funding.

3. Impact on affected service users

There could be a reduction of  play opportunities for children in the borough 
after school in term time and during school holidays

4. Savings Total

£24,000 in 2017/18, £16,000 in 2018/19. Total Saving £40,000

Page 42



Financial Year 2017/18 
Proposal no. NH-2017-310

Directorate Neighbourhood 
Services

Public Summary

Proposal Title:  Proposal to review the delivery of Legal Advice: 
Welfare, Debt   and Housing support

1. Overview of proposal

To review the Legal Advice: Welfare, Debt and Housing support to deliver 
services in a more cost effective manner.

2. Overall impact of proposed change

The specification for the new service from 1st April 2017 is reviewed and 
efficiencies achieved whilst delivering agreed outcomes for residents – any 
provider will be required to deliver to the revised specification.

3. Impact on affected service users

There is a risk that the level of funding available may not meet sufficient to 
allow any provider to meet the specification – this will be managed to 
minimise any negative impact.

4. Savings total

The total savings from this proposal would be £85,000 per annum

Page 43



Financial Year 2017/18
Proposal no. NH-2017-311
Directorate Neighbourhoods

Public Summary

Proposal Title: Review of Community Centre Grant Funding

1. Overview of proposal

Review of Community Centre Grant Funding

2. Overall impact of proposed change

Rationalisation of the funding available to support community centres with the 
reduced level of funding linked to the direct impact and benefit to the 
community. 

3. Impact on affected service users

Depending on the outcome of the review there could be an impact on service 
users who use the existing Community Centres. 

4. Savings total

The level of saving attached to this proposal is £75,000 per annum

Page 44



Financial Year 2017/18
Proposal no. NH-2017-312
Directorate Neighbourhood

Public Summary

Proposal Title:    Continued provision of School Crossing Patrols at 
a charge to schools.

1. Overview of proposal

For Schools to fund School Crossing Patrols (SCP) in their areas. 

2. Overall impact of proposed change

The Council will provide the service at the level that schools wish to purchase. 

3. Impact on affected service users

The Council will continue to provide the service to schools where they wish to 
purchase the service – where a school does not want the Council to provide 
this service they could make their own arrangements.

4. Savings total  

The income  from this proposal would be £272,000 pa

Page 45



Financial Year 2017/18
Proposal no. PH -2017-313
Directorate Adult Services

Public Summary

Proposal Title: Removal of Buy with Confidence Scheme

1. Overview of proposal

The proposal is to cease the operation of the Buy with Confidence Scheme 
due to the minimal use by businesses, therefore the cost does not provide 
value for money to residents.

2. Overall impact of proposed change

The scheme would no longer be provided 

3. Impact on affected service users

The impact on local traders and customers of cessation of the Scheme 
would be minimal as only two local businesses are currently signed up to 
the Scheme.

4. Savings total

            The total savings from this proposal would be £35,000 per annum

 

Page 46



1

 

Subject: Local Council Tax Support Scheme - 
Review of Scheme 2017/18

Status: For Publication

Report to: Middleton Township
                     Pennines Township
                     Heywood Township
                     Rochdale Township

Cabinet Member : Cabinet Member for Finance

Date: 15th July 2016
19th July 2016  

                     20th July 2016
                     21st July 2016

Report of : Director of Resources        

Author Email: Vicky.crossland@rochdale.gov.uk                                                     

Author: Vicky Crossland

Tel: (01706) 925409

Comments from Statutory  
Officers:                                             

Monitoring Officer : Yes
Section 151 Officer : Yes

Key Decision: Yes

1 Purpose of Report

1.1 To consider as part of the consultation process the following proposals as approved by
            Cabinet on the 11th July 2016

1. an update on the current Scheme and comparison of schemes across 
Association of Greater Manchester Authorities (AGMA).  

2. the legislative requirements to review the scheme and consultation 
implications, and

3. the proposal  and funding implications for a change to the Scheme in 2017/18

2 Recommendations

2.1      Members are requested as part of the consultation process to note the following
           recommendations as approved by Cabinet on the 11th July 2016:

1. the proposal to amend the Scheme for 2017/18 to reduce the minimum 
payment for working age claimants from 20% to 15%, (award capped at 85% of 
a Band A property), be approved for consultation;

2. the formal consultation period, as detailed in paragraph 3.5 of the submitted 
report, be approved;

3. the results of the consultation be reported to Corporate Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee and Cabinet in early November 2016 with a final proposal of the 
Local Council Tax Scheme submitted to Council on the 18th January 2017;

4.     the Scheme be automatically updated annually for national changes affecting 
    the operation for the award of local council tax support thus ensuring that 
    criteria for award remains in line with the award of housing benefit, with inflation 
    increases for deductions, premiums and allowances to increase in line with 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



2

DWP guidance.

Reason for recommendation

2.2 Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 requires local authorities to 
consider whether to revise or to replace its Local Council Tax Support Scheme each 
year. Any revisions or a replacement scheme must have been considered and agreed 
no later than 31st January 2017 for operation from 1st April 2017.

3 Background

3.1.1 Since 1st April 2013 the Council has operated a local council tax support scheme to 
replace the national council tax benefit scheme which ended in 2012/13.

3.1.2. Whilst the Government didn’t prescribe scheme regulations; they did require a 10% 
reduction in the overall cost of support nationally, whilst protecting claimants of 
pension-credit age from any reduction. Therefore in order to deliver the required level 
of savings from our local scheme, the impact of the reduction in support would either 
fall upon working-age claimants or need supplementing from the Council’s General 
Fund.

 
3.1.3. The scheme has undergone some changes since it was originally agreed in 2013/14 as 

detailed at Table 1:

Table 1 – Rochdale’s Local Council Tax Support Scheme changes 2013/14 to 2016/17

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Cap on the level 
of award

Capped at 75% 
of Band A 
council tax

Capped at 80% 
of Band A 
council tax

Taper on 
income

30% of every £1 
of income above 
the eligible 
threshold

20% of every £1 
of income above 
the eligible 
threshold

Non dependant 
deductions

Deductions 
doubled to that 
of the DWP 
level

Still frozen at 
levels agreed in 
2013/14

Second adult 
rebate

Removed As original 
scheme

Backdating of 
claims

Removed

As 2013/14 
scheme

As original 
scheme
Local Hardship 
Fund introduced

As 2015/16 
scheme

3.1.4 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 introduced the changes which localised 
council tax support through local council tax support schemes. As part of the Act the 
House of Lords required, that the Government must review the effectiveness, efficiency, 
fairness and transparency of the different schemes and whether or not the Scheme 
should be brought within universal credit. The Act required this review to take place 
within 3 years after the Act came into force, i.e. by the 31st March 2016.

3.2. Government review of the Scheme

3.2.1. A review was launched in December 2015 by Eric Ollerenshaw OBE which reported in 
March 2016. The terms of reference for the review were:

Page 48



3

 To review the  effectiveness, efficiency, fairness and transparency of the 
different LCTS schemes

 consider their impact on the localism agenda

 make recommendations as to whether or not the schemes should be brought 
within Universal Credit.

 examine best practice, including how councils have been able to reduce or 
manage administrative costs, promote simplified schemes, and communicate the 
changes to residents. 

3.2.2 There were 17 recommendations made by the Review, 14 for the Government to 
consider and 3 for local authorities. The Executive Summary is attached at Appendix A. 
The key recommendations for local authorities to consider relate to:

1. partnership working across councils for the design of future schemes, joint 
procurement for software and joint schemes across neighbouring councils.

2. ensure debt collection practices remain in line with latest Government guidance and 
that their processes are proportionate to the debt involved.

3. Departments within councils to work closely with each other to develop a holistic 
approach to LCTS council tax collection and identifying and supporting people who 
are struggling to pay.

3.2.3. Rochdale Council Revenues & Benefits Service :

1. already work closely across GM at head of service and operational levels. For 
example, at the GM Head of Service meeting on 10 June, there was a discussion 
about all options currently being considered for 2017/18. One authority is seeking to 
move from no minimum contribution to 12.5%, whilst  the remaining authorities have 
no plans at the current time to change their schemes.

2. have debt collection policies that are in line with Government guidance. There are 
well embedded practices to determine ‘can’t pay/won’t pay’ with tailored recovery 
remedies. In addition, summonses are not issued against working-age LCTS 
claimants with debts less than £300.

3. has close links with Adult Care for specific cases where vulnerability is identified. The 
Council also works with identified family groups (formerly known as troubled families) 
and a holistic view of these is considered, including LCTS, council tax debts, benefit 
cap.

3.3  Comparison of LCTS schemes

3.3.1. National picture

The independent report outlined at 3.2 provided a national position for local council tax 
schemes. The report highlighted that between 2013/14 and 2015/16 more authorities 
have required claimants to make a minimum payment and that the level of minimum 
payment ,on average, had increased. Those local authorities consulted outlined that 

“considering funding cuts, LCTS schemes needed to be cost- neutral: other 
considerations, such as the minimum payment level and savings limits, were 

Page 49



4

secondary. To put it simply, and to echo the general message I got from 
councils, minimum payment levels are increasing because Revenue Support 
Grant, which LCTS funding is part of, is decreasing year on year.”

Rochdale Council has sought to keep the cost of the Scheme to a minimum by :

 introducing a minimum charge for all claimants – originally set at 25% of Band A 
council tax reduced to 20% of Band A council tax in 2015/16 

 increased charges for empty reliefs from 2013/14 
 and revisions to collection rates within the Collection Fund to fund the rising gap. 

However the cost of the Scheme is subsidised by the Council due to the continued 
reductions in Revenue Support Grant as detailed in Table 2.

In 2013/14 Rochdale had £16.58m added to RSG to fund the replacement for council 
tax benefits. As RSG has reduced Table 2 shows how the assumed level of LCTS 
funding has also fallen in line with the reductions. On this basis this indicates that by 
2016/17 the current scheme budgeted to cost £16.591m will be over 50% funded by 
the Authority as the funding provided in the RSG is anticipated to represent £8.64m of 
the cost of the Scheme.

Table 2  Reduction in funding for Local Council Tax Support
2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue Support Grant 80.57 66.251 48.9 39.273 29.812 23.41 16.947

Actual council tax benefit grant 
included in RSG 16.58

Assumed  LCTS Government 
support as RSG has declined 14.76 12.37 8.64 6.56 5.15 3.73
Assumed reduction in council tax 
support as RSG has declined -1.83 -4.21 -7.94 -10.02 -11.43 -12.85

Table 3 below shows the change in minimum payment required nationally by all local 
authorities from 2013/14 to 2015/16. During this period Rochdale Council‘s scheme 
moved from a 25% minimum payment (cap on award at 75%) to 20% (cap on level of 
award at 80%). Over the three year period there has been a significant decline in 
minimum payments below 10% from 65% of councils to 45% whilst the councils 
requiring a minimum payment between 10% - 20%, including Rochdale Council , has 
doubled from 22% to 39%.

Page 50



5

Table 3

3.3.2.  AGMA Comparatives 

Appendix B provides a summary of the changes to Schemes across AGMA since 
2013/14. In 2016/17 two local authorities have changed their schemes as follows :

 One authority provides 100% support but has capped at Band C of property 
instead Band D.

 One authority has moved from a cap at Band B to cap Band A at 75% support but 
have a scheme which support work incentives, including a higher disregard of 
income for those in work – equivalent to £13 per week.

Table 4 summarises the key aspects of the GM schemes in 2016/17

Page 51



6

3.3.3   Government changes – Family Premium

From 1st April 2016 housing benefit regulations have changed in relation to family 
premiums. The means tested benefit calculation assumes a level of what is needed to 
live on, this amount varies to reflect household make up ie single person, couple, lone 
parent, disability, families. For new cases the family amount has been reduced to 
remove the family premium. This reduces the amount of “need” thus causing the 
claimant to be eligible to pay more of the rent. Normally all government changes in the 
HB scheme are reflected in the LCTS scheme. This will therefore affect the LCT 
Scheme from 2017/18 affecting any new families who apply, which in turn will over time 
reduce the cost of the Scheme.

3.3.4  Rochdale LCTS - Current claimant analysis

Rochdale’s current scheme provides support to 23,047 claimants as detailed at Table 5. 
Over 60% are of working age with almost 70% of claimants being passported claims. 
Passported being claims authorised by  DWP or HMRC as the claimant is entitled to full 
benefit award, e.g. long term unemployed or incapacity or Guaranteed Pension Credit , 
which in the Rochdale Scheme is 80% of a Band A council tax.

Page 52



7

Table 5    Analysis of current claimant groups

Claimant type Elderly Working age
Total 
claimants

% of total 
claimants

Passported 5,875 9,895 15,770 68%

Non passported 3,168 4,109 7,277 32%

Total 9,043 14,004 23,047
39% 61%

Band of property 
Elderly 
claimants

Working age 
claimants Total %

A 6,937 12,011 18,948 82.2%
B 1,136 1,212 2,348 10.2%
C 594 538 1,132 4.9%
D 255 191 446 1.9%
E 78 32 110 0.5%
F 24 13 37 0.2%
G 19 7 26 0.1%

23,047

Over 80% of claimants have Band A accommodation, Band B claimants make up 10% 
and Band C being 5%. The remaining 5% being D – G banded properties, as shown 
above.

Table 5 highlights that any changes to the cap at Band A would have minimum impact 
for the number of claimants affected (1,993 of working age claimants ). However due to 
the bands the costs could be high.

3.4.     Proposal for the Scheme for 2017/18

3.4.1.  Options have been considered in relation to the Scheme remaining unchanged and 
changes to elements of the eligibility criteria to disregard earnings for a small number 
of working age claimants. 

3.4.2. It was considered, however, that a universal change to the minimum payment for all 
working age claimants provided the fairest approach and would target additional 
support to the most vulnerable groups. On this basis the proposal for consultation for 
2017/18 seeks to reduce the minimum payment to 15% of Band A council tax, 
providing support at 85% of a Band A council tax.

3.4.3.   Proposal to change the Scheme to require a reduction in the minimum payment 
for claimants from 20% to 15%, (award capped at 85% of a Band A property.) – 
additional cost of £472k

Under this proposal all working age claimants would benefit from option 3 , ie reduce 
the minimum payment to 15% of Band A Council Tax property charge, some groups 
would benefit more than others as demonstrated in table 7. On average all claimants 
would benefit by £0.76 per week if the cap was lifted to 85%. Carers and disability 

Page 53



8

claimants would see an above average reduction in weekly council tax payments of 
£0.81 and £0.82 pence per week 

Table 6 -   Change to weekly contribution to Council Tax for option 3 – Lift cap to 85% , reducing 
the minimum payment from 20% to 15%.

Claimant 
numbers

Average weekly 
contribution to 
Council Tax

Average weekly 
contribution to Council 

Tax after change to 
cap 

Reduced 
contribution to 

Council Tax per 
week

Per week
£

Per week
£

Per week
£

Weekly change 14,004 6.06 5.30 0.76
By LCTSS groupings :

Carer 904 6.64 5.83 0.81
Disability 4,771 5.69 4.87 0.82
Families 3,072 6.86 6.14 0.72

Lone parents with 
children under 5 1,653 5.31 4.61 0.70

Single, couple and 
other claimants 3,604 5.80 5.05 0.75

3.4.3. In addition to the proposal to change the minimum payment , the Scheme will need to 
be updated for :

 national changes for the removal of the family premiums for any new 
families which apply to the Scheme from 2017/18. 

 re-link non dependent deductions to the inflation increases provided 
annually by the DWP

 ensure that the Scheme is automatically updated for any changes to 
DWP regulations each year.

3.4.4. The Local Council Tax Support Scheme for elderly claimants’ remains protected under 
the eligibility criteria of the previous council tax benefit scheme. The options have no 
impact on elderly claimants.

 
3.5.      Consultation Undertaken/Proposed:

3.5.1 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 requires councils to consult on the proposed 
change to the Scheme as follows:

1. consult with precept authorities 
2. publish a draft scheme in such manner as it thinks fit
3. consult such other persons as it consider are likely to have an interest in the 

operation of the scheme.

3.5.2 The Government code of practice for consultation suggests consultation should last for 
“proportionate amount of time”  on the basis of legal advice and taking into account the 
nature and impact of the proposal. Usually the consultation period used has been between 
8-12 weeks. 

Page 54



9

3.5.3 A consultation period of 10 weeks is recommended if changes to the Scheme are to be 
considered for 2017/18 to ensure that the consultation exercise is completed within 
budgetary timetables. The consultation period is suggested to take place between 18th 
July 2016 and end on the 23rd September 2016 to provide:

      capacity to scrutinise and agree a revised Scheme alongside the budget process 
for 2017/18 and

      to meet the statutory requirement to have a revised scheme agreed by the 31st 
January 2017.

3.5.4. The implementation timeline is provided at Appendix D. The key milestones are shown 
below:

Table 7 Timeline
11th July 2016 Report to Cabinet to consider options for the 2017/18 Local 

Council Tax Support Scheme agree the consultation process 
if changes to the Scheme are proposed.

18th July 2016 – 23rd 
September 2016

Consultation with GM Police Authority and GM Fire & Rescue 
Authority, Corporate Overview & Scrutiny and Township 
Committees and public consultation/engagement.

8th November 2016 Scrutiny of process, feedback and recommendations to be 
submitted to Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Committee.

14th November 2016 Feedback and recommendations for the 2017/18 Scheme to 
Cabinet.

18th January 2017 Agree scheme at Full Council in line with the requirement to 
agree scheme by 31 January 2017 and meet the 
requirements of budget setting re Council Tax Base

1st April 2017 Amended Scheme become operational.

3.5.5  The consultation process requires the Authority to consult on the amendment proposed 
to the Scheme rather than consultation on a range of options for the Scheme. 

3.5.6 There are no requirements to consult should the Scheme remain unchanged.

4 Financial Implications

4.1. Table 8 provides the financial implications associated with each option outlined at 
paragraph 3.4. and includes the following assumptions:

  Take up remains constant with current levels of claimants; it is possible that take up 
will increase as more claimants would become eligible if the criteria was relaxed.

  Any increase in council tax for 2017/18 is cost neutral to the overall impact on the 
Collection Fund for the purposes of calculating the local council tax support scheme 
impact.

   No inflationary increases for premiums and allowances in 2017/18 have been 
included. Premiums and allowances are increased each year in line with DWP 
guidelines for non- passported claimants.

Page 55



10

4.2. Local council tax support scheme funding

 4.2.1 The Scheme is budgeted for within the Collection Fund as a discount within the Council 
Tax account. Areas which are suggested to be reviewed to bridge the shortfall for 
Scheme changes are outlined below.

Proposal
£m

(Surplus) /Deficit from Table 8 above 0.472
Funded by :

Reduction in the Discretionary Hardship Fund *
The tax base includes £130k for hardship which was 
introduced as part of the 2015/16 scheme. There has 
been very limited take up of hardship; this could be 
reduced by £80k to support any scheme changes. The 
savings relate to 86.5% for Rochdale’s element of any 
change.

(0.069)

Changes to collection rates within the council tax 
taxbase for 2017/18 The tax base includes a collection 
target of 95.8%; current collection levels would support 
a review of this collection rate. Every 0.1% change in 
the collection rate increases income to the Collection 
Fund by £75k, based on the 2016/17 tax base.
The in-year collection rate in 2015/16 for council tax 
owed by LCTS claimants was 75.2%. Analysis of 
collection rates for current and previous years arrears 
would indicate that the rate for 2017/18 could be 
increased to 96% when setting the council tax base 
later this year.

(0.130)

Net (surplus) 
 Net deficit 0.273

* The Discretionary Hardship Fund was introduced as part of the changes to the Scheme for 2015/16.
   

Table 8 – Financial implications
Option 3 
Scheme changed to 85% 
award of Band A council 
tax

£m
Elderly  - No impact 7.492
Working Age Claimants 9.646
Current spend on Local council tax Support 17.138

Budget held within Collection Fund for support 2016/17 16.592
(Surplus)/deficit 0.546
Rochdale MBC element of the (surplus)/ deficit as 
one of the 3 precept authorities (86.5%) 0.472
Number of claimants likely to benefit from change

Total working age claimants at model date : 14,004

Working age claimants to 
benefit :  All

Page 56



11

The proposal would require savings to be identified by the Council to meet the £0.273m 
shortfall.

5  Legal Implications

5.1 Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 requires local authorities to 
consider whether to revise or to replace its scheme each year. The revision of a scheme 
is a decision reserved to full Council.

5.2. Any revisions or a replacement scheme must have been considered and agreed no later 
than the 31st January 2017 for operation by 1st April 2017. Before any revisions or a 
replacement scheme is agreed the Authority must:

 Consult the major precept authorities, this being GM Police Authority and GM Fire 
& Rescue Authority.

 Publish a draft of the revisions or replacement scheme in such manner as it thinks 
fit, and

 Consult parties who are likely to have an interest in the operation of the scheme.

5.3. There are no requirements to undertake public consultation should the scheme remain 
unchanged.  

5.4. In order to discharge its duties under the Equality Act 2010 the authority will need to 
consider the effects of proposals on people with a protected characteristic as defined by 
the act, which can be done by way of an equality impact assessment. Further details on 
this aspect is provided in section 9.

6 Personnel Implications

6.1 There are no personnel implications arising as a result of this report.

7 Corporate Priorities
The Local Council Tax Support Scheme is designed to support corporate priorities, in 
particular it:

 Supports governance arrangements remaining strong during this period of
      significant change;
 Supports budget stability by close monitoring of high risk spend;

while at the same time providing support for the most vulnerable residents of the 
Borough.

8. Risk Assessment Implications 

8.1 All the issues raised and the recommendation(s) in this report involve risk considerations 
which would be required to be managed in this process, as set out below:

a) Net eligibility during the year may increase the support to be provided above the 
budget set within the council tax base. This would be a cost to the Collection Fund 
which would be charged to the Council in the following year.

b) Some claimants may experience reductions in income as a result of other Welfare 
Reform changes which may reduce collection rates. 

c) Ensuring the revised scheme is not subject to legal challenge on the basis of equality 
legislation.

9. Equalities Impacts

9.1      Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment

Page 57



12

There are no workforce equality issues arising from this report.

9.2      Equality/Community Impact Assessments

Rochdale BC is legally required to monitor and review the Scheme following its 
implementation to check that it is working as planned and to screen for unexpected 
equality impacts.  The Council needs to comply with the public sector equality duty in 
section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.  It is the responsibility of the Council to keep its local 
scheme under review, making any adjustments as necessary. 

The Equality Impact Assessment supporting this report indicates the need to consult on a 
review of the existing Scheme, in view of the findings from various reports into schemes 
nationally and how our local scheme compares; continued feedback from residents 
affected; and changes made locally by other Councils.

Background Papers
Document Place of Inspection
Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
and Technical Reforms to Council 
Tax 

Reviews of Scheme
2014/15
2015/16
2016/17

Council Tax Support 
House of Commons Public Accounts 
Committee 48th report of 2013/14 – 
published 11th March 2014

DCLG Localising Support for Council 
Tax Vulnerable people – key local 
authority duties

Three years on - 
An Independent Review of Local Council 

Tax Support Schemes

Cabinet 17th December 2012

Cabinet 31st October 2013
Cabinet 28th July 2014
Cabinet 2nd November 2015

House of Commons - Council Tax 
Support - Public Accounts 
Committee

Localising support for Council Tax: 
vulnerable people - key local 
authority duties - Publications - 
GOV.UK

Local Council Tax support schemes: 
an independent review - Publications 
- GOV.UK

Page 58

http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cmpubacc/943/94302.htm
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cmpubacc/943/94302.htm
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cmpubacc/943/94302.htm
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/localising-support-for-council-tax-local-council-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/localising-support-for-council-tax-local-council-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/localising-support-for-council-tax-local-council-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/localising-support-for-council-tax-local-council-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-council-tax-support-schemes-an-independent-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-council-tax-support-schemes-an-independent-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-council-tax-support-schemes-an-independent-review


13

Appendix A

THREE YEARS ON:
An Independent Review of Local Council Tax Support Schemes

RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendations to Government

1. Government should remove the January 31st deadline for schemes to be agreed on, and 
replace it with a condition that councils have an LCTS scheme agreed and in place by the end 
of March each year.

2. Multi-year or rolling schemes should be allowed. Councils should be required to review their 
schemes at Full Council only when changes are being proposed.

3. The statutory consultation requirements should be clarified by Government, so that councils 
can take a less risk-averse approach. This should make consultations less burdensome on 
councils and more engaging to residents.

4. DCLG should issue updates to the prescribed regulations sooner in the year, so as to inform 
local consultation. This could be a two-stage process, with policy intent provided in summer, 
and details and updates to regulations confirmed after the Autumn Statement.

5. Government should enable LCTS recipients to pay off arrears through a voluntary attachment to 
benefits agreed with the council, without the requirement to obtain a liability order. Safeguards 
should be put in place to ensure that individuals have had the time, information and capacity to 
consider the option and make an informed decision.

6. Government should work closely with councils to rectify data-sharing issues between council 
systems and Universal Credit systems, and to address concerns about how critical 
Government-held data will be shared with councils as Universal Credit is rolled out to LCTS 
recipients.

7. Government should consider localising at least part of the LCTS scheme for pensioners, 
allowing councils to decide how much support they wish to provide for all low-income 
residents.

8. Government should consider granting more local flexibility over other nationally- set council tax 
discounts, such as the single person discount.

Government should take steps to better understand the impact of LCTS on individuals and 
councils, widening the data it holds on LCTS. This will enable future policy evaluation.

9. Government should commission in-depth academic research on the impact of LCTS within 
the wider context of other welfare and socioeconomic changes.

10. Government should be transparent about how much funding for LCTS is paid through 
Revenue Support Grant, and it should be explicit about the future funding of LCTS schemes, 
including any expectations on how LCTS should be locally funded.

Page 59



14

11. Government should require councils to clearly state how much funding they intend to pass 
on to parishes as part of their consultation on LCTS schemes.

12. Government should improve its engagement and ongoing dialogue with local government 
on LCTS. This could be done via an updated and more transparent Council Tax Partnership 
Forum or by setting up another forum for this purpose.

13. Government should confirm that LCTS will remain a local discount scheme for a local tax, and 
that it will not be rolled into Universal Credit.

Recommendations to councils

1. Where possible, councils should work in partnership in designing future schemes. Councils 
should consider options around joint procurement of software providers, and joint schemes with 
neighbouring councils, where appropriate.

2. Councils should ensure their debt collection practices remain in line with latest Government 
guidance, and that their processes are proportionate to the debt involved. Councils should 
consider signing up to the Citizens Advice “Council Tax Arrears: Good Practice Protocol”, 
developed in partnership with the Local Government Association.

3.  Departments and teams within councils should work closely with each other and with partner 
organisations to develop a holistic approach to LCTS council tax collection, identifying and 
supporting people who are struggling to pay.

Page 60

https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/about-us/campaigns/current_campaigns/recent-campaigns/council-tax-arrears-good-practice-protocol/
https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/about-us/campaigns/current_campaigns/recent-campaigns/council-tax-arrears-good-practice-protocol/


15

Comparison of LCTS Schemes: GM Appendix B
Local Authority LCTS Schemes - Key Features

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Authority 1 Up to Band D (no Cap) As per 2013/14 scheme As per 2014/15 scheme

No cap but now Band C 
maximum liability not band 

D
Authority 2

Up to Band B (no Cap)
Up to Band B (no Cap) Up to Band B (no Cap) Up to Band B (no Cap)

Authority 3 Capped at 91.5% Capped at 85% As per 2014/15 scheme Capped at 85%
Authority 4

Capped at 75% (up to Band A) Capped at 80% (up to Band A) Capped at 85% (up to Band A)

Capped at 85% (up to 
Band A)

Authority 5 - 
Rochdale

Capped at 75% (up to Band A) As per 2013/14 scheme
Capped at 80% (up to Band 

A)

Capped at 80% (up to 
Band A)

Authority 6 Capped at 91.5% Capped at 88% Capped at 85% Capped at 85%
Authority 7

Up to Band A or B (no Cap) *

Up to Band A or B (no Cap) * Up to Band A or B (no Cap) * Up to Band A or B (no 
Cap) *

Authority 8

Capped at 80% (up to Band B) As per 2013/14 scheme As per 2014/15 scheme

Capped at 75% of Band A
No taper on income to 
incentivise support to 
claimants in work and 
disregard 2 hours per 
week again to support 
those on low incomes in 
work.

Authority 9
Up to Band D (no Cap)

Up to Band D (no Cap) Up to Band D (no Cap) Up to Band D (no Cap)

Authority 10

Capped at 80% As per 2013/14 scheme As per 2014/15 scheme

Capped at 80% but 
households with children 
under 5 years of age can 
qualify for a reduction up 

to 100%

P
age 61



16

Working age - non passported claimant ( in work on low earnings with tax credits)  - 
Lone Parent

Appendix C -  Case 
studies

Calculation of award of council 
tax support

£ per 
week

Calculation of award of council 
tax support

£ per 
week

Calculation of award of 
council tax support

£ per 
week

maximum council tax per week for 
band A single person 15.31

maximum council tax per week for 
band A single person 15.31

maximum council tax per 
week for band A single 
person 15.31

less taper on income -2.85 less taper on income -0.35 less taper on income -2.85
eligible council tax 12.46 eligible council tax 14.96 eligible council tax 12.46
Cap at 80% 9.97 Cap at 80% 11.97 Cap at 85% 10.59

Claimant has a Band B property  - 
75% of Band B per week as 
claimant qualifies for single person 
discount £17.86

Claimant has a Band B property  - 
75% of Band B per week as 
claimant qualifies for single person 
discount £17.86

Claimant has a Band B 
property  - 75% of Band B 
per week as claimant 
qualifies for single person 
discount £17.86

less LCTS £9.97 less LCTS £11.97 less LCTS £10.59
Amount to pay per week £7.89 Amount to pay per week £5.89 Amount to pay per week £7.27

Summary - amount payable by lone parent 
claimant
current - option 1 £7.89
Option 2 £5.89
Option 3 £7.27

P
age 62



17

Working age - passported claimant ( in receipt of full benefit)  - Lone Parent

Calculation of award of council tax 
support

£ per 
week

Calculation of award of 
council tax support

£ per 
week

Calculation of award of council 
tax support

£ per 
week

maximum council tax per week for band 
A single person 15.31

maximum council tax per 
week for band A single 
person 15.31

maximum council tax per week for 
band A single person 15.31

 Cap at 80% 12.25 Cap at 80% 12.25 Cap at 85% 13.01

Claimant has a Band B property  - 75% 
of Band B per week as claimant qualifies 
for single person discount £17.86

Claimant has a Band B 
property  - 75% of Band B 
per week as claimant 
qualifies for single person 
discount £17.86

Claimant has a Band B property  - 
75% of Band B per week as 
claimant qualifies for single person 
discount £17.86

less LCTS £12.25 less LCTS £12.25 less LCTS £13.01
Amount to pay per week £5.61 Amount to pay per week £5.61 Amount to pay per week £4.85

Summary - amount payable by lone parent 
claimant
current - option 1 £5.61
Option 2 £5.61
Option 3 £4.85

P
age 63



18

Deadline Report to Tasks
Monday
11th July

Cabinet Report to consider options for the 2017/18 
Local Council Tax Support Scheme agree 
the consultation process if changes to the 
Scheme are proposed.

Monday
18th July 

Consultation
10 weeks

Consultation with :
 GM Police Authority and GM Fire & 

Rescue Authority,
 Corporate Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee
 Townships
 Public Engagement
 Area Forums
 Interest groups including RBH
 Claimants

Friday 23rd September Consultation 
closes

10 weeks consultation

Tuesday 8th November Corporate O&S Scrutinise outcome of consultation and 
recommendations to Council

Monday 14th November Cabinet Outcome of consultation and agree 
recommendations to Council for Scheme 
2017/18

Tuesday 17th January 
2017

Planning & 
Licensing 
Committee

Council tax base setting . Report with 
delegation should the proposals to change 
the Scheme be rejected by Council.

Wednesday 18th January
2017

Council Scheme proposals to be submitted to 
Council for approval

New Scheme operational 1st April 2017

Local Council Tax Support Scheme – Review of Scheme for 2017/18        APPENDIX  D
Key dates

Page 64



1

APPENDIX 

Equality Impact Assessment

 

What are you assessing?  Please tick the appropriate box below.

Function Strategy Policy Project Other, please specify below

√

Service:

Resources

Section: 

Revenues & Benefits

Responsible Officer:

Keith Mackenzie

Name of function/strategy/ policy/ project assessed:

Review of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
eligibility criteria for 2017/18

Date of Assessment:  30th June 2016

Officers Involved:

Keith Mackenzie  - Head of Revenues & Benefits Service

Tracey Bland – Corporate Finance Manager

Page 65



2

1.What is the purpose of the function/strategy/policy/project assessed?

(Briefly describe the aims, objectives and purpose of the function/strategy/policy/project)

The document being assessed is the Local Council Tax Support Scheme, for the year 2017/18. This sets out 
the eligibility criteria and level of award of discount to be applied towards a claimant’s council tax bill.

Since April 2013, local authorities have had powers to provide discounts to council tax payers who meet the 
eligibility criteria for support, following the abolition of the national council tax benefit scheme in 2012/13.

2.Who are the key stakeholders?

 Current and future claimants of local council tax support both working age and those in 
receipt of pension credit

 Customer representative groups such as CAB have an interest in the proposals. 
 Housing services and social landlords.
 Customer services staff and welfare rights organisations
 Elected members and officers of Rochdale BC
 partners / local agencies with an interest in supporting the most vulnerable

other government agencies working in this field (DWP)

3. What is the scope of this equality impact assessment? That is, what is included in this 
assessment.  

Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 requires local authorities to consider whether to 
revise or to replace its Local Council Tax Support Scheme each year. Any revisions or a replacement 
scheme must have been considered and agreed no later than 31st January 2017 for operation from 1st April 
2017.
The scheme has undergone some changes since it was originally agreed in 2013/14 as detailed at Table 1:

Table 1 – Rochdale’s Local Council Tax Support Scheme changes 2013/14 to 2016/17

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Cap on the level 
of award

Capped at 75% 
of Band A 
council tax

Capped at 80% 
of Band A 
council tax

Taper on 
income

30% of every £1 
of income above 
the eligible 
threshold As 2013/14 

20% of every £1 
of income above 
the eligible 
threshold As 2015/16 

Page 66



3

Non dependant 
deductions

Deductions 
doubled to that 
of the DWP 
level

Still frozen at 
levels agreed in 
2013/14

Second adult 
rebate

Removed As original 
scheme

Backdating of 
claims

Removed

scheme

As original 
scheme
Local Hardship 
Fund introduced

scheme

The report proposes consulting on reducing the minimum payment for claimants from 20% to 15%, 
(award capped at 85% of a Band A property.) – additional cost of £472k

4.Which needs is this function/strategy/ policy/ project designed to meet?

The aim of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme is to provide financial assistance by way of a reduction in 
the council tax bill payable for those claimants who qualify under the means tested criteria of the Scheme 
which compares income against an assessment of living allowances (known as applicable amounts).

5.Has a needs analysis been undertaken?

The Local Council Tax Support Scheme is designed to provide financial assistance to council tax payers 
who need assistance with the payment of their council tax. The Scheme criteria cover both working age and 
pension credit age claimants. 

Localisation of council tax support in place of a national council tax benefit scheme is part of a wider set of 
welfare reforms being delivered by the Government to improve the incentives to work and ensuring 
resources are used more effectively.  

A review of all Schemes was launched in December 2015 by Eric Ollerenshaw OBE which reported in 
March 2016. The terms of reference for the review were:

 To review the  effectiveness, efficiency, fairness and transparency of the different LCTS 
schemes

 consider their impact on the localism agenda
 make recommendations as to whether or not the schemes should be brought within Universal 

Credit.
 examine best practice, including how councils have been able to reduce or manage 

administrative costs, promote simplified schemes, and communicate the changes to residents. 

There were 17 recommendations made by the Review, 14 for the Government to consider and 3 for local 
authorities. The key recommendations for local authorities to consider relate to:

Page 67



4

1. partnership working across councils for the design of future schemes, joint procurement for 
software and joint schemes across neighbouring councils.

2. ensure debt collection practices remain in line with latest Government guidance and that their 
processes are proportionate to the debt involved.

3. Departments within councils to work closely with each other to develop a holistic approach to LCTS 
council tax collection and identifying and supporting people who are struggling to pay.

Rochdale Council Revenues & Benefits Service :

1. already work closely across GM at head of service and operational levels. For example, at the GM 
Head of Service meeting on 10 June, there was a discussion about all options currently being 
considered for 2017/18. One authority is seeking to move from no minimum contribution to 12.5%, 
whilst  the remaining authorities have no plans at the current time to change their schemes.

2. have debt collection policies that are in line with Government guidance. There are well embedded 
practices to determine ‘can’t pay/won’t pay’ with tailored recovery remedies. In addition, 
summonses are not issued against working-age LCTS claimants with debts less than £300.

3. has close links with Adult Care for specific cases where vulnerability is identified. The Council also 
works with identified family groups (formerly known as troubled families) and a holistic view of these 
is considered, including LCTS, council tax debts, benefit cap.

6.Who is affected by this function/strategy/ policy/ project?

The Local Council Tax Support Scheme is designed to provide financial assistance to council tax payers 
who need assistance with the payment of their council tax. The Scheme criteria covers both working age 
and pension credit age claimants. 

There are two applications routes for the Local Council Tax Support Scheme.  

1. Passported by Department of Works & Pensions (DWP)
Claimants who are already in receipt of benefits from the DWP and are either of working age but 
unemployed or are in receipt of pension credit can be  passported to local council tax support. If in 
receipt of a qualifying benefit e.g. income support the claimant is asked to confirm they wish to 
claim local council tax support via a short application form after which they will be awarded 
maximum Local Council Tax Support. 

2. Standard claims
Alternatively applicants apply directly to the Council if they are on low income. These “standard 
applications are assessed following the claimant providing details of their income, savings and 
family circumstances. Applications can be made using a variety of application methods, e.g. on-
line; by telephone: face-to-face;

7.Who has been involved in the review or development of this function/strategy/ policy/ project and 
who has been consulted?  State your consultation/involvement methodology.

The Local Government Finance Act 2012 requires councils to consult on the proposed change to the Scheme 
as follows:

1. consult with precept authorities 
2. publish a draft scheme in such manner as it thinks fit
3. consult such other persons as it consider are likely to have an interest in the operation of the 

scheme.

Page 68



5

A consultation period of 10 weeks is recommended if changes to the Scheme are to be considered for 
2017/18 to ensure that the consultation exercise is completed within budgetary timetables. The 
consultation period is suggested to take place between 18th July 2016 and end on the 23rd September 
2016 to provide:

      capacity to scrutinise and agree a revised Scheme alongside the budget process for 2017/18 
and

      to meet the statutory requirement to have a revised scheme agreed by the 31st January 2017.

As the scheme is to be altered to provide more support to claimants the proposal is to consult as follows:

 Website awareness and online questionnaire
 Use Townships and Area Forums to raise awareness
 Posters at Council establishments
 Paragraph “flyer” on bottom of all Revenue and Benefits standard letters during consultation period 

to signpost to website about possible changes.

8.What data have you considered for this assessment and have any gaps in the data been identified.  
What action will be taken to close any data gaps?

1. The CAPITA modelling database was used to provide the  original data for modelling the options 
using November 2015 data.

2.  Extracts from the monthly performance reports have also been used.
      3.    The following background papers are also considered

Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
and Technical Reforms to Council 
Tax 

Reviews of Scheme
2014/15
2015/16
2016/17

Council Tax Support 
House of Commons Public Accounts 
Committee 48th report of 2013/14 – 
published 11th March 2014

DCLG Localising Support for Council 
Tax Vulnerable people – key local 
authority duties

Cabinet 17th December 2012

Cabinet 31st October 2013
Cabinet 28th July 2014
Cabinet 2nd November 2015

House of Commons - Council Tax 
Support - Public Accounts 
Committee

Localising support for Council Tax: 
vulnerable people - key local 
authority duties - Publications - 
GOV.UK

Page 69

http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cmpubacc/943/94302.htm
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cmpubacc/943/94302.htm
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cmpubacc/943/94302.htm
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/localising-support-for-council-tax-local-council-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/localising-support-for-council-tax-local-council-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/localising-support-for-council-tax-local-council-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/localising-support-for-council-tax-local-council-guidance


6

Three years on - 
An Independent Review of Local Council 

Tax Support Schemes
Local Council Tax support schemes: 
an independent review - Publications 
- GOV.UK

9.Are there any other documents or strategies which are linked to this assessment? If so, please 
include hyperlinks to these documents below, where available.

See 8 above

10.What impact will this function/strategy/policy/project have on all the protected groups?  This 
includes both positive and potentially negative impacts.

Race Equality 

Existing data on applicants for Local Council Tax Support does not give any clarification on ethnicity. 
Currently 68% of eligible claimants (at May 2016) are “passported” claimants. Passported claimants are 
assessed by DWP and are usually in receipt of jobseekers allowance, income support or income related 
employment & support allowance. Rochdale Council receive limited non essential information from DWP in 
relation to these claimants. Non passported (“standard”) claimants apply directly to Rochdale Council and 
are usually in work but on low incomes. 

Disabled People

All working age claimants would benefit from reducing the minimum payment to 15% of Band A 
Council Tax property charge, some groups would benefit more than others as demonstrated in table 
7. On average all claimants would benefit by £0.76 per week if the cap was lifted to 85%. Carers and 

Page 70

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-council-tax-support-schemes-an-independent-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-council-tax-support-schemes-an-independent-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-council-tax-support-schemes-an-independent-review


7

disability claimants would see an above average reduction in weekly council tax payments of £0.81 
and £0.82 pence per week 

Change to weekly contribution to Council Tax  Lift cap to 85% , reducing the minimum payment 
from 20% to 15%.

Claimant 
numbers

Average weekly 
contribution to 
Council Tax

Average weekly 
contribution to Council 

Tax after change to 
cap 

Reduced 
contribution to 

Council Tax per 
week

Per week
£

Per week
£

Per week
£

Weekly change 14,004 6.06 5.30 0.76
By LCTSS groupings :

Carer 904 6.64 5.83 0.81
Disability 4,771 5.69 4.87 0.82
Families 3,072 6.86 6.14 0.72

Lone parents with 
children under 5 1,653 5.31 4.61 0.70

Single, couple and 
other claimants 3,604 5.80 5.05 0.75

Carers

See above

Gender

The eligibility criteria for the scheme has no differential impact between working age male or working age 
female applicants. 

All awards are neutral in that they are available equally to applicants irrespective of gender. Claimants of 
pension age are protected to the level of awards under the previous national council tax benefit system.

Page 71



8

Age

The Scheme’s eligibility criteria are positive in relation to age, as all claimants of pension credit age are 
protected under the previous national council tax benefit scheme’s criteria. There is no cap as to the level of 
award of council tax benefit support unlike working age claimants.

Claimants of pension credit age account for 39% , approximately 9,000 of the total claimants for Local 
Council Tax Support. The average weekly council tax support is £15.93 for claimants of pension credit age, 
compared to an average £12.31 per week for working age claimants under the capped level of award 
introduced within the Local Council Tax Support Scheme.

Armed Forces and Ex-Armed Forces Personnel

The Scheme’s criteria disregards war widows and  war disability pension in line with the local disregards 
which featured under the previous national council tax benefit scheme.

The level of award is capped on the same basis as all other working age claimants.

Sexual Orientation

Existing data on applicants for Local Council Tax Support does not give any clarification on sexual 
orientation. 
The eligibility criteria is neutral in relation to sexual orientation, as it does not expressly include, exclude or 
otherwise identify any particular group irrespective of sexual orientation. 
All awards are neutral in that they are available equally to applicants irrespective of sexual orientation. 

Gender Reassignment

Existing data on applicants for Local Council Tax Support Scheme does not give any clarification on gender 
reassignment. 

The eligibility criteria is neutral in relation to gender reassignment, as it does not expressly include, exclude 
or otherwise identify any particular group. 

All awards are therefore neutral in that they are available equally to all applicants irrespective of gender 
reassignment. 

Page 72



9

Religion or Belief

The eligibility of the Scheme does not impact on any religion or belief more than any other group. All awards 
are neutral in that they are available equally to applicants irrespective of religion or belief.

Pregnant Women or Those on Maternity Leave

Existing data on applicants for the Local Council Tax Support Scheme does not give any clarification on 
pregnant women, those on maternity leave or having given birth within the last 26 weeks. The only 
information which is held relates to income from statutory maternity pay that a claimant may be receiving at 
the point an application is made as this forms part of the income assessment for the means tested support.
The Scheme’s eligibility criteria continues with the same level of protection of income and savings for 
pregnant women as applied under the national council tax benefit scheme when calculating the means 
tested eligibility criteria. Although the level of award is capped on the same basis as all other working age 
claimants.

Marriage or Civil Partnership

Eligibility criteria and awards are neutral in that they are available equally to applicants irrespective of marital 
status.

11.What are your main conclusions from this analysis?

Changes to the level of cap on the award of discount under the Local Council Tax Support Scheme for 
working age claimants would provide financial support to vulnerable groups. A discretionary council tax 
support hardship scheme provides targeted financial support on a case by case basis to vulnerable 
claimants who are experiencing exceptional hardship in relation to paying their council tax bill.

12.What are your recommendations?

1. To consider and approve, for consultation, the proposal to amend the Scheme for 2017/18. 
The proposal being to reduce the minimum payment for working age claimants from 20% to 
15%, (award capped at 85% of a Band A property.)

2. To consider and approve the formal consultation period to be adopted should amendments to 
the Scheme be accepted for consultation.

3. To note that the results of the consultation, should Scheme changes be agreed, are to be 
reported to Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet in early November 2016 
with the final Local Council Tax Scheme being agreed by Full Council on the 18th January 
2017.

4. To consider and agree that the Scheme is automatically updated annually for national 
changes affecting the operation for the award of local council tax support thus ensuring that 
criteria for award remains in line with the award of housing benefit. Inflation increases for 
deductions, premiums and allowances to increase in line with DWP guidance.

Page 73



10

13.What actions are you going to take to address the findings of this assessment?  Please attach an 
action plan including details of designated officers responsible for completing these actions.

The actions are dependent on the decision taken by Cabinet on the proposal to amend the scheme, which 
will form the basis of the consultation.

Signed (Completing Officer):___Tracey Bland________________
Date:___30/6/2016__________

Signed (Head of Service):__Keith Mackenzie__ Date:____30/6/2016_________

Page 74



11

Equality Impact Assessment Action Plan 2016/17

Action Outcome Target Date For 
Completion

Resource 
Implications

Lead Officer

P
age 75



Subject: The Need for Extra Reception Class 
Places 2016 - 2019

Status:  Publication

Report to:
Middleton Township Committee 
Heywood Township Committee 
Pennines Township Committee 
Rochdale Township Committee 

Cabinet Member: Cabinet Member for Children's 
Services

Date:
Thursday,     15th September 2016
Monday        19th September 2016
Tuesday       20th September 2016
Wednesday  21st September 2016 

Report of: Director of Children's Services

Author Email: debra.kay@rochdale.gov.uk     

Author: Debra Kay

Tel: 01706 925130

1 Purpose of Report
1.1  There is a need to keep under review the need for extra Reception class places in each 

Township from September 2016 to September 2019. The purpose of this report is to 
present an update on the current admission position for September 2016 and to put 
forward proposals to address the need for any further extra Reception Class places up to 
September 2019.

2.    Recommendations
2.1  Members are asked to consider this report and to give their views on the strategy and 

proposals to meet any expected increase in demand for Reception Class places in the 
period to September 2019.

       Reasons for recommendations
2.2 In recent years there has been a continuing increase in the number of children born 

across the Borough, and who in turn will want Reception Class places. Data presented in 
the report at Borough and Township level shows there are different demand pressures in 
each township. The available data indicates that whilst there is a decrease in the number 
of children born for admission to primary school in September 2019, there is still a need to 
consider additional places in some parts of the Borough to ensure there are enough 
places overall.

3.   Background and proposals
      Boroughwide Position –Birth Trends
3.1 As the number of children born in the Borough has increased, Rochdale Borough Council 

has reviewed the need for extra Reception class places, to make sure that there are 
enough places to meet this expected growth. The situation has been different across 
each of the Townships, and this is described in the following sections. The number of 
children born in school year 2014/15 (admission to school in September 2019) 
provisionally shows a decrease in births in each township for the first time in a number of 
years. The graph below shows the number of children born in the Borough from 1992/93 
school year.

Page 76

Agenda Item 7

mailto:debra.kay@rochdale.gov.uk


Boroughwide- extra places provided and planned to date
3.2  Since 2010-11 school year, the Authority has worked with schools across the Borough to 

provide addition Reception Class places across each Township to meet the rise in 
demand for places. Some of these places are a permanent increase in capacity, but most 
were for a limited time period (bulge classes). The table below summarises the extra 
Reception class places that have been provided, or are planned to 2019-20 school year 
to date. This consultation will identify the need for further extra places at Township level 
from 2016 to 2019. Appendix One sets list all schools where additional places have been 
agreed and how the additional places have been provided.

4. Heywood Township 
       Births and Demand for Reception Places
4.1 The graph below (4.2) shows the number of children born in Heywood Township since 

1992/93. The overall trend has been one of declining numbers of children born between 
1992/3 and 2001/2. From then there was an increase in the number of children born, to a 
peak in 2010/11 (for admission to school in September 2015). For the last 2 years there 
has been a rise in the number of children born in the Township.

Borough Births

Year 19
92

-9
3

19
93

-9
4

19
94

-9
5

19
95

-9
6

19
96

-9
7

19
97

-9
8

19
98

-9
9

19
99

-0
0

20
00

-0
1

20
01

-0
2

20
02

-0
3

20
03

-0
4

20
04

-0
5

20
05

-0
6

20
06

-0
7

20
07

-0
8

20
08

-0
9

20
09

-1
0

20
10

-1
1

20
11

-1
2

20
12

-1
3

20
13

-1
4

20
14

-1
5

Births 3,0
93

3,0
88

2,8
90

2,8
76

2,8
79

2,8
39

2,7
73

2,6
65

2,5
54

2,5
91

2,6
83

2,7
99

2,8
03

2,8
40

3,0
23

3,0
74

3,0
64

3,0
15

3,0
29

3,0
48

3,0
36

28
19

28
69

Township

20
10

-1
1

20
11

-1
2

20
12

-1
3

20
13

-1
4

20
14

-1
5

20
15

-1
6

20
16

-1
7

20
17

-1
8

20
18

-1
9

20
19

-2
0

TO
TA

L

Heywood 0 30 45 45 30 75 75 75 30 30 405
Middleton 30 60 75 60 152 152 182 137 137 107 985
Pennines 8 15 54 45 54 84 109 69 39 39 477
Rochdale 20 65 165 132 77 47 77 77 77 77 737
BOROUGH 58 170 339 282 313 358 443 358 283 253 2604

Page 77



4.2 Graph to show the number of children born in Heywood between 1992/3 and 2014/15*

* birth numbers for 2014/15 are currently provisional.
Heywood Births

Year 19
92

-9
3

19
93

-9
4

19
94

-9
5

19
95

-9
6

19
96

-9
7

19
97

-9
8

19
98

-9
9

19
99

-0
0

20
00

-0
1

20
01

-0
2

20
02

-0
3

20
03

-0
4

20
04

-0
5

20
05

-0
6

20
06

-0
7

20
07

-0
8

20
08

-0
9

20
09

-1
0

20
10

-1
1

20
11

-1
2

20
12

-1
3

20
13

-1
4

20
14

-1
5

Births 44
8

40
1

39
3

36
7

36
5

36
2

38
3

34
0

36
9

31
8

32
1

35
3

36
2

35
4

37
0

39
2

38
9

36
3

39
8

38
2

37
7

38
5

39
7

4.3 Projecting expected demand for Reception class places in the township is based upon 
comparing the number of children born, with the number of children from that birth cohort 
taking up places in Heywood schools. In 2010/11 there were 8% more children wanting 
reception class places than have been born in the township. In 2011/12 there were 2% 
fewer children wanting reception class places than were born in the township. This is 
shown in the graph at paragraph 4.4 below. The take up of places in September 2014 
was higher; with 5% more children wanting reception class places than were born in the 
township. Therefore, the projections for future demand take this into account.

4.4 Graph to show recent past trend in demand and future projection of demand:   

NOTE: Projections include potential pupil yield from new housing, and are based on current 
approvals where the site is in development, with the numbers factored over 2 years from 
2016/17.

Page 78



  20
11

/12

 20
12

/13

20
13

/14
 

20
14

/15
 

20
15

-1
6

20
16

-1
7

20
17

-1
8

20
18

-1
9

20
19

-2
0

Births 370 392 389 363 398 382 377 385 397
Expected Reception Children 383 395 383 382 421 419 412 413 426
Reception Places Available 400 415 415 400 445 445 445 400 400

             
The graph shows that there will be an increase in demand for reception class places up to the 
2019/20 admission year. This means that extra places are likely to be needed in the 
Township. An extra 30 places have been agreed for St. Luke’s CE for 2017. Subject to 
agreement with the Governing Body, there would be an extra 15 places at St. Joseph’s RC for 
2017.  Extra places need to be provided for 2018 and 2019.

4.5 The number of Reception Class places currently available in Heywood schools in 
September 2016 is set out in the following table:

School Places School Places School Places
Heap Bridge 25 Harwood Park 60 St Luke's CE VC 30
Woodland  60 All Souls CE VC 30 St Joseph's RC VA 45
Hopwood 60 St Michael's CE VA 30 St Margaret's CE VA 30

Our Lady &St Paul's RC VA 30

4.6 The following graph and table summarises the number of extra places that might be 
needed, and proposals for where they might be provided.

Sept 2016 Sept 2017 Sept 2018 Sept 2019
Current Reception 
admission places 

agreed
445 445 400 400

Expected pupil 
numbers 417 410 413 426

Extra Places 
Needed

Enough places 
available with a 

margin of 
flexibility

13 minimum, but needs at 
least 30 to ensure margin 

for growth

26 minimum, but needs at 
least 45 to ensure margin 

for growth

Where more extra 
places might be 

available

i) St Joseph RC- 15 places subject to agreement
ii) Either: St Luke’s CE-30 places
   Or:  Woodland CP 30 places

4.7 Heywood Township Summary: For September 2016 the Authority has agreed to provide 
extra Reception class places above the Planned Admission Number at St Luke’s CE and 

Page 79



St Joseph’s RC. The above table summarises the future expected demand and proposals 
to meet it.  For 2018 and 2019 further places will be needed. The proposals for Heywood 
Township are to:
(i) support  St Joseph’s RC School to admit a further 15 children in 2018 and 2019 and 
consider whether there should be a permanent enlargement of the school to admit 60 
pupils in each year group; and
(ii) to provide:
     either an extra 30 places at St Luke’s CE for 2018 and 2019;
     or an additional 30 places at Woodland CP in existing accommodation.

5. Middleton Township
Births and Demand for Reception Places
5.1 The graph below (5.2) shows the number of children born in Middleton Township since 

1992/93. The overall trend has been one of declining numbers of children born between 
1998/9 and 2000/1. From then there was an increase in the number of children born, to a 
peak in 2011/12 (for admission to school in September 2016). For the last 2 years there 
has been a fall in the number of children born in the Township.

5.2 Graph to show the number of children born in Middleton between 1992/3 and 2014/15*

* Birth numbers for 2014/15 are currently provisional.

Middleton

Year 19
92

-9
3

19
93

-9
4

19
94

-9
5

19
95

-9
6

19
96

-9
7

19
97

-9
8

19
98

-9
9

19
99

-0
0

20
00

-0
1

20
01

-0
2

20
02

-0
3

20
03

-0
4

20
04

-0
5

20
05

-0
6

20
06

-0
7

20
07

-0
8

20
08

-0
9

20
09

-1
0

20
10

-1
1

20
11

-1
2

20
12

-1
3

20
13

-1
4

20
14

-1
5

Births 64
5

66
6

61
0

59
1

61
3

64
4

57
7

52
1

47
1

50
7

49
5

51
7

50
3

53
5

58
3

56
2

56
1

63
3

63
7

64
9

62
9

60
3

56
7

5.3 Projecting expected demand for Reception class places in the township is based upon 
comparing the number of children born, with the number of children from that birth cohort 
taking up places in Middleton schools. In 2010/11 there were 9% more children wanting 
reception class places than had been born in the township. In in 2013/14 there were 6% 
more children wanting reception class places than were born in the township. In 2015/16 
5% more children wanted reception class places than were born in the township. The 
progression for future place projections will reflect an increasing demand.

5.4 Graph to show recent past trend in demand and future projection of demand:

Page 80



NOTE: Projections include potential pupil yield from new housing, and are based on current approvals
where the site is in development, with the numbers factored over 2 years from 2016/17.

  20
11

/12

 20
12

/13

20
13

/14
 

20
14

/15
 

20
15

-1
6

20
16

-1
7

20
17

-1
8

20
18

-1
9

20
19

-2
0

Births 583 562 561 633 637 649 629 603 567
Expected Reception Children 585 575 593 635 671 702 680 645 607
Reception Places Available 598 613 598 690 690 720 675 675 645

5.5 The number of Reception Class places currently available in Middleton schools for 
September 2016 is set out in the table below:

5.6 The following graph and table summarises the number of extra places that might be 
needed, and proposals for where they might be provided.

School Places School Places School Places
Boarshaw 60 Hollin (30 from 2017) 60 St Thomas More RC 45
Bowlee Park 120 Middleton Parish CE VA 60 St Michael's CE VA 30
St Mary's RC VA 60 Parkfield 30 St Gabriel's CE VC 30
Elm Wood 60 Little Heaton CE VC 30 St Peter's RC (30 from 2018) 45
Alkrington 60 St John Fisher RC 30

Page 81



Sept 2016 Sept 2017 Sept 2018 Sept 2019

Places available
710 675 645 645

Estimated Pupils
690 669 634 596

Extra Places Needed Enough 
places with 
a margin for 

growth

A shortfall of 5 places, so at least 
an extra 30 places are needed to 
provide a margin for growth

 30 spare places each year so there 
are just enough places overall with 
a margin for growth

Options i) Continue to provide up to an extra 30 places at   Boarshaw 
ii) consider an extra 30 places at Little Heaton CE
iii) consider an extra 15 places at St.Peter’s RC

5.7 Middleton Township Summary: From 2016/17 the reception places meets the demand 
for the expected number of pupils, however there is no margin for flexibility. From 2017/18 
there are fewer reception places than the expected number of pupils and so there is a need 
for extra reception places within the Middleton Township for 2017, 2018 and 2019. The 
proposals for  2017, 2018 and 2019 are to:

i) Continue to provide up to an extra 30 places at   Boarshaw 
ii) consider an extra 30 places at Little Heaton CE
iii) consider an extra 15 places at St.Peter’s RC

6. Pennines Township
Births and Demand for Reception Places
6.1 The graph below (6.2) shows the number of children born in Pennines Township since 

1992/93. The overall trend has been reasonably consistent numbers of births between 
1992/3 and 1999-2000, with a fall in births in 2000-01, and a steady increase in births to a 
new high point in 2013-14. The nature of birth and demand pressure varies across the 
township, and further detailed analysis of the distribution of births shows that the area 
most likely to need additional places is Milnrow/Newhey.

6.2 Graph to show the number of children born in Pennines between 1992/3 and 2014/15*: 

*Birth numbers for 14/15 are currently provisional 

Page 82



 6.3  Projecting expected demand for Reception class places in the township is based upon 
comparing the number of children born, with the number of children from that birth cohort 
taking up places in Pennine schools. In 2010/11 there were 29% more children wanting 
reception class places than had been born in the township. In 2014/15 there were 7% 
fewer children wanting reception class places than has been born in the township. In 
2015-16 there were 12% fewer children wanting Reception places than were born in the 
Township. This is shown in the graph at paragraph 6.4 below and future place projections 
will reflect this.

6.4 Graph to show recent past trend in demand and future projection of demand:

NOTE: Projections include potential pupil yield from new housing, and are based on current approvals
where the site is in development, with the numbers factored over 2 years from 2016/17.

  20
11

/12

 20
12

/13

20
13

/14
 

20
14

/15
 

20
15

-1
6

20
16

-1
7

20
17

-1
8

20
18

-1
9

20
19

-2
0

Births 599 630 587 565 624 618 568 513 497
Expected Reception Children 512 524 539 526 549 581 534 475 460
Reception Places Available 521 560 551 560 590 615 575 545 545

6.5 The number of Reception Class places currently available in Pennines schools for 
September 2016 is set out in the table below:

Littleborough-Wardle-Dearnley-Smithy Bridge-Smallbridge area Milnrow and Newhey area 
School Places School Places School Places
Littleborough 60 Stansfield Hall CE VC 30 Moorhouse (PAN=30) 60
Holy Trinity CE VA 30 St Mary's RC VA 30 St Thomas' CE VA 21
St James' CE  F 30 St. Andrew's CE VC 60 Crossgates F 45
Smithy Bridge F 60 Kentmere Academy 45 Milnrow Parish CE VA 30
Alice Ingham RC VA 24 Hamer 45 Newhey (PAN=30) 45

PAN= Published Admission Number

Pennines

Year 19
92

-9
3

19
93

-9
4

19
94

-9
5

19
95

-9
6

19
96

-9
7

19
97

-9
8

19
98

-9
9

19
99

-0
0

20
00

-0
1

20
01

-0
2

20
02

-0
3

20
03

-0
4

20
04

-0
5

20
05

-0
6

20
06

-0
7

20
07

-0
8

20
08

-0
9

20
09

-1
0

20
10

-1
1

20
11

-1
2

20
12

-1
3

20
13

-1
4

20
14

-1
5

Births 38
2

39
9

36
2

37
7

38
3

35
8

36
4

37
1

32
7

35
6

38
5

42
3

39
0

39
8

59
9

63
0

58
7

56
5

62
4

61
8

56
8

51
3

49
7

 historic Ward Boundaries- to 2005-6 new ward boundaries applied here

Page 83



6.6 The following graph and table summarises the number of extra places that might be 
needed, and proposals for where they might be provided.

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20
Places Available 615 575 575 575
Estimated pupils 581 534 475 460
Extra Places 
Needed

Enough places - Extra places were 
provided to meet local demand at 
St.Andrew’s CE and Stansfield Hall

41 spare 
places

70 spare places 85 spare places

Options i) Consider  whether  30 extra places are still needed at 
Moorhouse;
ii)Consider whether extra places are needed in the Dearnley 
and Littleborough areas to meet changing demand by 
increasing St..Andrew’s CE to  60 places  and Stansfield Hall 
to 30 for some of this period.

6.7 Township Summary:
From September 2017, there is a need to consider extra places because of the localised 
pressures arising from demographic and preference demand. Further analysis of 
admissions and demand across the different parts of the Township will be undertaken. 
The proposals are:

         i) Consider  whether  30 extra places are still needed at Moorhouse;
ii)Consider whether extra places are needed in the Dearnley and Littleborough areas to 
meet changing demand by increasing St..Andrew’s CE to  60 places  and Stansfield Hall 
to 30 for some of this period.

7. Rochdale Township
Births and Demand for Reception Places
7.1 The graph below (7.2) shows the number of children born in Rochdale Township since 

1992/93. The overall trend has been one of declining numbers of children born between 
1992/3 and 2000/1. From then there was an increase in the number of children born, to a 
peak in 2008/9. Since then there has been a gradual decline in births until 2010/11 with a 
further decline in 2013/14. Generally fewer children take places in the township than were 
born in the township. An average of these are between 5% and 7% as fewer children are 
taking up places.

Page 84



7.2 Graph to show the number of children born in Rochdale between 1992/3 and 2014/15*.

* Birth numbers for 2014/15 are currently provisional.

7.3 Projecting expected demand for Reception class places in the township is based upon 
comparing the number of children born, with the number of children from that birth cohort 
taking up places in Rochdale schools. In 2010/11 there were 11% fewer children wanting 
reception school places than had been born within the township. In 2012/13 there were 
5% fewer children wanting reception places than were born within the township. In 
2014/15 there were 7% fewer children wanting reception class places than were born 
within the township. The progression for future place projections will reflect this.

7.4 Graph to show recent past trend in demand and future projection of demand:

NOTE: Projections include potential pupil yield from new housing, and are based on current approvals
where the site is in development, with the numbers factored over 2 years from 2016/17.

Rochdale

Year 19
92

-9
3

19
93

-9
4

19
94

-9
5

19
95

-9
6

19
96

-9
7

19
97

-9
8

19
98

-9
9

19
99

-0
0

20
00

-0
1

20
01

-0
2

20
02

-0
3

20
03

-0
4

20
04

-0
5

20
05

-0
6

20
06

-0
7

20
07

-0
8

20
08

-0
9

20
09

-1
0

20
10

-1
1

20
11

-1
2

20
12

-1
3

20
13

-1
4

20
14

-1
5

Births 15
94

16
01

15
23

15
41

15
18

14
59

14
48

14
23

13
37

14
10

14
82

15
06

15
48

15
53

14
71

14
89

15
27

14
51

13
70

13
99

14
52

13
46

14
05

 historic Ward Boundaries-  up to 2005-6 new ward boundaries applied here  

Page 85



  20
11

/12

 20
12

/13

20
13

/14
 

20
14

/15
 

20
15

-1
6

20
16

-1
7

20
17

-1
8

20
18

-1
9

20
19

-2
0

Births 1471 1489 1527 1451 1370 1399 1452 1346 1405
Expected Reception Children 1378 1415 1419 1353 1301 1372 1423 1309 1366
Reception Places Available 1395 1500 1467 1412 1382 1412 1412 1412 1412

7.5 The number of Reception Class places currently available in Rochdale schools is set out 
in the table below for September 2014:

School Places School places School places School places
Bamford   Academy 45 All Saints CE VA 30 St Peter's CE VC 60 St John's CE VA Thornham 10
Whittaker Moss 45 Heybrook 90 Brimrod 30 Holy Family RC VA 30
Norden 60 Belfield   45 Marland Hill 60 Sacred Heart RC VA 30
Caldershaw 30 Broadfield 60 Ashfield Valley 30 St Gabriel's RC  VA 30
Meanwood 60 Deeplish Academy 60 Sandbrook 90 St John's RC VA 30
Spotland 60 Lowerplace 60 St Mary's CE VC 30 St Patrick's RC VA 45
Shawclough 60 Greenbank 60 Castleton 30 St Vincent's RC VA 60
Healey Foundation 30 St Edward's CE VC 52

7.6 The following graph and table summarises the number of extra places that might be 
needed, and proposals for where they might be provided.

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20
Places Available 1412 1412 1412 1412
Estimated pupils 1372 1423 1309 1366
Extra Places Needed 40 spare 11 needed 103 spare 46 spare
Options i) Consider permanent 

enlargement of Whittaker Moss 
from 45 to 60 places. 
ii)Consider additional 30 places 
at Greenbank  (additional 
accommodation previously 
provided at the school)

Enough places 
overall

Need to review 
distribution of births 
across the Township to 
meet local demand 
pressures

7.7 Township Summary: 
The number of reception places for 2016 is sufficient to accommodate the expected number 
of pupils, although there might be a need to consider  localised admission pressures. 
Additional places are needed for 2017. Further places also need to be considered for 2019 
and further analysis will be undertaken in the light of admissions pressures. The proposals for 
2017 are:
i) Consider permanent enlargement of Whittaker Moss from 45 to 60 places; and

Page 86



ii)Consider additional 30 places at Greenbank  (additional accommodation previously provided 
at the school)

8.    Financial Implications
8.1  At any school where an increase in admissions is proposed and agreed for September 

2016 or September 2017 onwards, there may be capital costs associated with bringing 
space into use for class teaching purposes or for the provision of additional 
accommodation. These costs will be met from within current capital allocations as agreed 
by Cabinet.

8.2 Through their revenue budgets, schools receive funding which enables them to comply 
with Infant Class Size Regulations. School budgets are for financial years based on pupil 
numbers as per the previous October school census data.   For September 2016 any 
planned increase in numbers will allow schools to budget for additional staff. However, if 
fewer children than expected are actually on roll, then this may adversely affect the 
school budget. If, in the light of actual admission preferences, further additional places 
become planned for any school, under Regulations, the Local Authority is able to fund the 
estimated increase in places if this is significant so the school will receive extra funding 
for the planned places. This is funded through Dedicated Schools Grant.

9.    Legal Implications
9.1 Each Local Authority has a statutory duty to secure school places in their area. Local 

Authorities and other relevant bodies have a duty to comply with Infant Class Size Limits. 
Admission Authorities have a duty to comply with any preference expressed by a parent 
for a school places except where to do so would prejudice the provision of efficient 
education or the efficient use of resources. Following the recommendations in this report 
the Local Authority will be able to discharge those duties.

9.2 Where the increased intake at individual schools is planned to continue beyond three 
years, consideration must be given to the publication of statutory proposals. 

10.     Personnel Implications
10.1   Where a school needs to appoint an additional teacher to comply with class size limits 

or to establish an additional teaching group, it is the responsibility of the school to select 
and appoint such staff from within the school’s budget, including formal consultation to 
amend the establishment where appropriate. There are no other personnel implications.

11.    Corporate Priorities
11.1 Securing the provision of sufficient school places is a universal service and comes within 

the theme of Building Success & Independence, and is one of the key priorities in the 
Early Help and Schools Service Plan.

12.    Risk Assessment Implications 
12.1 All the issues raised and the recommendation(s) in this report involve risk considerations 

as set out below:

 Overall it is important to ensure that there are sufficient school places (a statutory duty)
          without increasing potential surplus capacity;
 Increasing an admission number does not by itself guarantee additional pupils in a  
         school, and there are financial implications for a school budget if sufficient extra pupils
         do not take up places;       
 The number of extra places proposed is the minimum required, it does not allow any 

significant margin if there are more pupils than expected, nor does it take account of 
potential extra pupils moving into an area as a result of movement around  or into the 
Borough; and

Page 87



 Most of the proposals for additional places will require capital support which will be met 
from within current Department for Education capital allocations.

13.    Equalities Impacts

13.1  Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment
         There are no significant workforce equality issues arising from this report.

13.2  Equality/Community Impact Assessments
         There are no significant equality/community issues arising from this report because 
         the proposals are to increase school place provision.

Page 88



APPENDIX ONE- SUMMARY OF EXTRA PLACES PROVIDED by SCHOOL 2010 to 2019

EXTRA RECEPTION CLAS PLACES PROVIDED 2010 to 2019

Df
E 

No

 20
10

-1
1

20
11

-1
2

20
12

-1
3

20
13

-1
4

20
14

-1
5

20
15

-1
6

20
16

-1
7

20
17

-1
8

20
18

-1
9

20
19

-2
0

How Places Provided to date

HEYWOOD            

3512 Woodland   30 30 30        demountable classrooms

2061 Harwood Park    15 15 15 15 15 15 15   existing internal space

3006 St Luke's CE VC      30 30 30   15/16 existing internal space 16/17 extension

2063 Hopwood    15 0 15 15 15 15 15 15 12/13 existing internal space 14/15 extension

3510 St Joseph's RC      15 15 15   internal adaptation

TOTAL EXTRA PLACES 0 30 45 45 30 75 75 75 30 30  

MIDDLETON            

2041 Boarshaw       30 0 30 30 30 30 30  
12/13 existing internal space 14/15 extension+ 
remodel  

3513 Bowlee Park   30 30 30 30 30 30 60 60 60 60
10/11 onwards existing internal space 16/17 
extension

2048 Hollin       30  0 30 30 30    11/12 existing internal space 14/15 extension

3321
Middleton Parish 
CEVA   15 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 4x demountable classrooms + extension

3312 St Mary's RC      15 15 15 15 15 15 extension

3311 St Peter's RC     15 15 15    internal remodelling

2047 Elm Wood     2 2 2 2 2 2 increase numbers in classes to 30

TOTAL EXTRA PLACES 30 60 75 60 152 152 182 137 137 107  

 PENNINES            

3013
Stansfield Hall CE 
VC       10     

3306 Holy Trinity CEVA 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 exiting internal space plus small extension

3009 St Andrew'sCEVC   30 15 15 15 30 15 15 15 internal remodelling plus extension etc

2065 Hamer   7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 exiting internal space 

2043 Moorhouse      30 30 30   internal remodelling

2044 Newhey    6 15 15 15    extension

5200 Crossgates    9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9  3 x demountable classrooms

TOTAL EXTRA PLACES 8 15 54 45 54 84 109 69 39 39  

 ROCHDALE            

2029 Whittaker Moss   25 25 10 10 10 10 10 10  existing space in former Highwood Centre

2006 Greenbank      30        existing internal space + demountable classroom

2009 Heybrook 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 existing internal space

2028 Belfield   5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 4 x demountable classrooms

2004 Deeplish   15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 new build school

2024 Lowerplace  30 30 30       3 x demountable classrooms

3511 Sandbrook     30 30 30  30 30 30 30
12/13demountable 14/15 demountable 16/17 
extension

2002 Castleton    10        

3002 St Edward's CE VC    2 2 2 2 2 2 2  increase average class size to 26

3501 St John's RC  15 15        use of existing space

TOTAL EXTRA PLACES 20 65 165 132 77 47 77 77 77 77  
…………report ends………..

Page 89



Subject: The Need for Extra Year 7 
Secondary School Places from 2017

Status:  Publication

Report to:
Middleton Township Committee 
Heywood Township Committee 
Pennines Township Committee 
Rochdale Township Committee 

Cabinet Member: Cabinet Member for Children's 
Services

Date:
Thursday      15th September 20166
Monday        19th September 2016
Tuesday       20th September 2016
Wednesday  21st September 2016 

Report of: Director of Children's Services

Author Email: debra.kay@rochdale.gov.uk   

Author: Debra Kay
Tel: 01706 925130

1 Purpose of Report
1.1 There is a need to keep under review the requirement for extra Year 7 secondary places 

across the Borough from September 2017 onwards. The purpose of this report is to set 
out proposals to address the ongoing need for further secondary school places.

 

2.    Recommendations
2.1  Members are asked to consider this report and to indicate their views on the proposals to 

meet the additional demand for secondary school places in future years.

       Reasons for recommendations
2.2 In recent years there has been a continuing increase in the number of children born 

across the Borough, and who in turn will need Secondary School places. Data presented 
in the report at Borough and Township level shows there are different demand pressures 
in each township.  

3.   Background and proposals

3.1 In recent years there has been an increase in the number of children born in all the 
Townships, and this increase in numbers will move through to the secondary sector. The 
demand for places is affected by cross boundary movement with significant numbers of 
children seeking places at schools outside the borough.

Currently there are 16% fewer Year 7 children in the Rochdale Township secondary 
schools than were in Year 6. Outward movement from Rochdale Township is to Bury, 
Lancashire and Pennines Township. There are currently 4% more Year 7 children in 
Pennines secondary schools than were in Year 6. The inward movement is mainly from 
Rochdale Township and Calderdale. The projected pupil numbers reflect these trends.

Page 90

Agenda Item 8



 20
13

/14
 

20
14

/15
 

20
15

/16

20
16

/17

 20
17

/18

 20
18

/19

20
19

/20
 

20
20

/21

20
21

/22

20
22

/23

20
23

/24

20
24

/25

20
25

/26

20
26

/27

Year 6 Pupils 1603 1669 1769 1789 1824 1963 2017 2052 1968 1937 2021 2005 1827 1886
Year 7 Expected 
Pupils 1479 1510 1590 1679 1714 1831 1884 1928 1841 1818 1897 1871 1703 1754
Year 7 Places 1680 1680 1710 1718 1710 1710 1710 1710 1710 1710 1710 1710 1710 1710
Extra Places Needed  -4 -121 -174 -218 -131 -108 -187 -161 7 -44

For Heywood, there are nearly 8% fewer Year 7 children in the Heywood secondary 
schools than were in Year 6. Outward movement from Heywood Township is primarily to 
Bury and Middleton. However, there are currently 13% more Year 7 children in Middleton 
secondary schools than were in Year 6. Outward movement from Middleton is primarily to 
Oldham. There is now a significant inward movement into Middleton schools mainly from 
Manchester. The projected pupil numbers reflect these trends.

Page 91



 20
13

/14
 

20
14

/15
 

20
15

/16

20
16

/17

 20
17

/18

 20
18

/19

20
19

/20
 

20
20

/21

20
21

/22

20
22

/23

20
23

/24

20
24

/25

20
25

/26

20
26

/27

Year 6 Pupils 789 776 876 886 958 1013 1016 1037 1078 1152 1166 1123 1089 1048
Year 7 Expected 
Pupils 780 799 920 950 1023 1079 1078 1103 1150 1228 1245 1199 1159 1113
Year 7 Places 870 930 954 976 990 990 990 990 990 990 990 990 990 990
Extra Places Needed  -33 -89 -88 -113 -160 -238 -255 -209 -169 -123

The Local Authority has to make sure there are enough school places for all children 
who need them. In deciding the number of extra places needed, it is assumed that 
all current Year 7 places will be filled. The Authority has taken into account a 
number of factors to decide where to put extra places, these are:- past trends in 
numbers of children moving from Year 6 to Year7, physical space in schools; scope 
to put in extra accommodation; and avoiding creating too many extra places in the 
long term. 

3.2 Borough-wide extra places provided and planned to date

It is expected that most schools would need additional accommodation in order to 
admit further children. For new school proposals, accommodation will be in 
accordance with Government guidelines on space in schools.

There are five secondary schools in Heywood and Middleton Townships. Already an 
extra 30 places are to be available at each of Cardinal Langley RC and Holy Family 
RC CE College for 2017. The places available in 2017 will be:

Siddal Moor 210 Middleton Technology 270 St. Anne’s CE 
Academy

150

Holy Family RC  CE 
College

150 Cardinal Langley RC 210

 School Year  20
17

/18

 20
18

/19

20
19

/20
 

20
20

/21

20
21

/22

20
22

/23

20
23

/24

20
24

/25

20
25

/26

20
26

/27
Year 6 Pupils 958 1013 1016 1037 1078 1152 1166 1123 1089 1048
Year 7 Expected 
Pupils 1023 1079 1078 1103 1150 1228 1245 1199 1159 1113
Year 7 Places 990 990 990 990 990 990 990 990 990 990
Extra Places 
Needed -33 -89 -88 -113 -160 -238 -255 -209 -169 -123

Options

Proposals  for 2017 onwards:
i) Provide an additional 30 places - options to be explored at existing schools 
ii) Provide an additional 30 places at Cardinal Langley from 2020 with the support of the Diocese 

and Governing Body
iii) Establish a new 150 place Free school in the area  
iv) Consider measures to meet the peak shortfall of nearly 240 places for 2022

There are seven secondary schools in Pennines and Rochdale Townships. Already 
an extra 20 places are available at Hollingworth from 2016. The places available in in 
2017 will be:

Hollingworth 270 Kingsway Park 240 Oulder Hill 300
Wardle 240 Falinge Park 248 Matthew 

Moss
180

St. Cuthbert’s RC 240

Page 92



  20
17

/18

 20
18

/19

20
19

/20
 

20
20

/21

20
21

/22

20
22

/23

20
23

/24

20
24

/25

20
25

/26

20
26

/27

Year 6 Pupils
182
4 1963 2017 2052 1968 1937 2021 2005 1827

188
6

Year 7 Expected Pupils 
171
4 1831 1884 1928 1841 1818 1897 1871 1703

175
4

Year 7 Places
171
0 1710 1710 1710 1710 1710 1710 1710 1710

171
0

Extra Places Needed -4 -121 -174 -218 -131 -108 -187 -161 7 -44
Options Proposals  for 2017 onwards:

v) Provide an additional 30 places at Falinge Park
vi) Provide an additional 30 places at Kingsway Park with the support of the Trust 

and Governing Body
vii) Establish a new 120 place Free school in the area  

4.   Financial Implications
4.1 At any school where an increase in admissions is there may be capital costs associated 

with bringing space into use for class teaching purposes or for the provision of additional 
accommodation. These costs will be met from within current capital allocations as agreed 
by Cabinet. The DfE funding allocations for 2016/17 and 2017/18 are: £2,792,429 and 
£11,818,280 and of these amounts, there is a figure of approximately £13million 
remaining which will be allocated to both primary and secondary school schemes.

4.2 School budgets are for financial years based on pupil numbers as per the previous 
October school census data.  For September 2017 any planned increase in numbers will 
allow schools to budget for additional staff. However, if fewer children than expected are 
actually on roll, then this may adversely affect the school budget. If, in the light of actual 
admission preferences, further additional places become planned for any school, under 
Regulations, the Local Authority is able to fund the estimated increase in places if this is 
significant so the school will receive extra funding for the planned places. This is funded 
through Dedicated Schools Grant.

5.    Legal Implications
5.1 Each Local Authority has a statutory duty to secure school places in their area. Admission 

Authorities have a duty to comply with any preference expressed by a parent for a school 
places except where to do so would prejudice the provision of efficient education or the 
efficient use of resources. Following the recommendations in this report the Local 
Authority will be able to discharge those duties.

6.     Personnel Implications
6.1   Where a school needs to establish an additional teaching group, it is the responsibility of 

the school to select and appoint such staff from within the school’s budget, including 
formal consultation to amend the establishment where appropriate. There are no other 
personnel implications.

7.    Corporate Priorities
7.1  Securing the provision of sufficient school places is a universal service and comes within 

the theme of Building Success & Independence, and is one of the key priorities in the 
Early Help and Schools Service Plan.

8.    Risk Assessment Implications 
8.1   All the issues raised and the recommendation(s) in this report involve risk considerations

 as set out below:

 Overall it is important to ensure that there are sufficient school places (a statutory 
         duty)  without increasing potential surplus capacity;

Page 93



 Increasing an admission number does not by itself guarantee additional pupils in a  
         school, and there are financial implications for a school budget if sufficient extra 
         pupils do not take up places;     
  
 The number of extra places proposed is the minimum required, it does not allow any 

significant margin if there are more pupils than expected, nor does it take account of 
potential extra pupils moving into an area as a result of movement around  or into the 
Borough; and

 Most of the proposals for additional places will require capital support which will be 
         met from within current Department for Education capital allocations.

9.    Equalities Impacts
9.1  Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment
        There are no significant workforce equality issues arising from this report.

9.2  Equality/Community Impact Assessments
        There are no significant equality/community issues arising from this report because 
        the proposals are to increase school place provision.

Background Papers
Document- consultation paper Place of Inspection Rochdale Council 

Website

Page 94


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	Summary OF interests

	3 Minutes
	4 Revenue Budget Update 2017/18 to 2019/20
	5 Savings Programme 2017/18 and 2018/19
	6 Local Council Tax Support Scheme - Review of Scheme 2017/18
	Local Council Tax Support Scheme - Review of Scheme 2017/18 enc. 1

	7 The Need for Extra Reception Class Places 2016-2019
	8 The Need for Extra Year 7 Secondary School Places from 2017

